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Among dlffereﬂg%hinese -medk:lne brands,
Wai Yuen Tong srecognized as the
brand provi_ding best Chinese_ medicine quality. i
RTEERESEER
A ERRE :

Wi Terts IR
COUGH SYRUP F2

éﬁ- w

S o Y

)

®

-
-

*According to Ipsos’ market survey on consumers of Chinese
health supplement products conducted in April 2023
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Awards
4% JH
(2022-2023)

The Nielsen Company & IQVIA
JERFRRA] & IQVIA

% Wai Yuen Tong Hou Tsao Powder Ranked 1st in Sales Value & %
Sales Volume for 9 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong

o 7 3 Ak 3 B 8 RO A O AR S S U R BN A R AR —

* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (June 2013 to May 2020) and IQVIA (June 2020 to May 2022)
through its Retail Index Service for the defined Hou Cho Powder segment of Cough Remedy category
for the 9-year period ending May 2022, for Key Account Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong
Kong (Copyright © 2020, The Nielsen Company; Copyright © 2022, IQVIA)

* RiENielsen BB R E) (201346 A ZE 202045 7) RKIQVIA (202096 A E2022F5A) + #iE2022F
SAILOFHIR - 2 EHEET - EAERER R IEZEBREARE) TERERE(© 2020EH
FRAFIRMERTA © ©2022 IQVIARRIEFTA)

The Nielsen Company

Emmaa MOSQUITOUT s
W AR Feep Mnspuines Ay
% Pearl’s Mosquitout Patch Ranked 1st in Sales Value (HK$) % e

I RT2:H 0 Eflecve for L2 Hours

Share for 3 Consecutive Years in Hong Kong
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* Based in part on data reported by Nielsen (March 2019 to February 2022) through its Retail Index
Service for the defined Patch segment of Mosquito Repellent category for the 3-year period ending
February 2022, for Total Supermarkets, CVS and Drug Stores in Hong Kong. (Copyright © 2022,
NielsenlQ)
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The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
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Awarded by The Hong Kong Council of Social Service
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Chairman’s Statement

£ He

With a century-long history and well-established reputation, “Wai Yuen Tong”
has continuously strived for excellence in both Western and Chinese medicine
products, as well as traditional Chinese medicine outpatient services for over
125 years. | hereby express my heartfelt gratitude to all colleagues for their
dedication during the past challenging year in the inheritance of tradition, and
contribution to the health of people in the community.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of Wai Yuen
Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”), | present to the shareholders the annual report for the year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Year” or the “year under review”).

Traditional Chinese Medicine (“TCM") is a unique health resource in the PRC,
with enormous economic potential, scientific and technological resource with
original advantages, excellent cultural resource and important ecological resource,
which play an important role in socio-economic development. With the in-depth
development of the PRC's new industrialisation, informatisation, urbanisation,
and agricultural modernisation, accelerated aging population, the booming
development of the healthcare services industry and the increasing demand for
TCM services by the public, it becomes imperative to inherit, develop and utilize
TCM effectively, fully leveraging its role in deepening the reform of the medical and
health system to benefit the health of mankind. The State Council has formulated a
planning outline for the future development direction and work priorities of TCM in
the PRC to promote the health development of the field. In March 2022, the State
Council further refined and adjusted the Implementation Plan on the basis of the
“14th Five-Year Plan” for the Development of Traditional Chinese Medicine, clarifying
the goals and tasks for the development of TCM during the “14th Five-Year Plan”.
These policies fully demonstrate the Chinese government’s absolute determination
to promote the long-term and stable development of the TCM industry.

Wai Yuen Tong has upheld the philosophy of “Preparing Medicine with Dedication,
Growing Strong with Reputation” since its establishment in 1897. With sincerity
in promoting the profound healthcare wisdom of TCM, we are committed to
promoting the national TCM industry to the world. We aim to lead the industry in
establishing higher quality standards, while providing comprehensive and attentive
pharmaceutical products and services to every customer.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
EN &AW

Business Development

Currently, the Group holds “Wai Yuen Tong”, a widely-known Chinese medicine
and health food brand, through Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited ("Wai
Yuen Tong"’ or "WYT Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the “WYT Medicine
Group’), and holds "Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”, two world-renowned Western
medicine brands, through Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited ("Luxembourg
Medicine’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Luxembourg Medicine Group”),
creating synergy through the two-pronged development of the Group’s Chinese
and Western medicine and healthcare businesses. Despite the challenges and
uncertainties brought by the recurring COVID-19 pandemic over the past year,
the Group has actively faced and bravely resolved difficulties, achieving significant
growth in its pharmaceutical business throughout the Year. During the year under
review, amid repeated outbreaks of COVID-19, the demand for Chinese medicine
clinic services in Wai Yuen Tong retail stores continued to rise, with particular growth
in residential districts. During the Year, the Group opened 9 new stores in Hong
Kong and Macau, located in Tuen Mun, Yuen Long, Tin Shui Wai, To Kwa Wan, Mong
Kok, Chai Wan and New Yaohan, etc.

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had over a hundred stores in Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Macau, with more than 80 Chinese medicine practitioners in
Hong Kong. According to Ipsos’ market survey on consumers of Chinese health
supplement products conducted in April 2023, Wai Yuen Tong is considered as
the most trustworthy brand among TCM practitioner’'s network by the majority
of respondents. We also have two Chinese medicine clinics in the PRC, and our
products are sold in over 30 countries worldwide where Chinese people are present,
and such cooperative operation has lasted for around 30 years. As for the Chinese
medicine business, with the help of the business operation model of franchised
stores, the business development of our stores has been rapidly expanded. During
the year under review, new products have been launched in the five major product
categories of Chinese medicine (proprietary Chinese medicines, dietary supplement,
homology of medicine and food, decoction and concentrated granule, and lifestyle
products), providing a richer and more diverse selection of products within each
category. Wai Yuen Tong has three flagship products, including the most well-
known “Angong Niuhuang Wan (& & 48 #1)" series (including gold-packed
Angong Niuhuang Wan which uses three natural ingredients and Angong Niuhuang
Wan with pharmacopoeia prescriptions), our most classic “Young Yum Pill (Zk&
A", also known as “Young Sheng Pill (B4 #1)", which was awarded the Lingnan
Traditional Chinese Medicine Cultural Heritage of Guangdong Province in 2009,
and last but not least, "Hou Tsao Powder (R ZEFR ZEER)", ranked first in sales for 9
consecutive years in Hong Kong, making it a preferred choice of healthcare product
for many consumers. The Group has established in Hong Kong for years and is well-
supported and recognised by our customers with its large and experienced team of
in-store registered Chinese medicine practitioners.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Meanwhile, the sales channels of the Western medicine business have been
expanded through the hospital and health and beauty product chain store
deployment in Mainland China. To further enhance the sales efficiency of Western
medicine products, the Group has strengthened the production of OEM product line
during the year under review. The Group has invested nearly HK$S600 million in the
construction of a TCM and Western medicine Good Manufacturing Practice ("GMP”)
factory in Yuen Long (the “Yuen Long Factory"), in accordance with the standard
of “The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme” ("PIC/S"), a stringent
manufacturing practice regulation with worldwide recognition. In line with the
government’s target to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050, the Group commenced
the installation of solar panels at its Yuen Long Factory in 2022 as planned to
reduce carbon emissions. While consolidating our corporate brand strength with
continuous effort in leveraging our advantage of “100% made in Hong Kong”, the
Group also focuses on reducing emission and enhance efficiency to achieve a win-
win situation for the environment and the economy.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
3% Wl o)

The intelligent automatic packaging system jointly developed by Wai Yuen Tong
and the Hong Kong Productivity Council was put into use in October last year. This
unique system was designed to meet to the needs of Wai Yuen Tong and is capable
of handling the packaging for all types of one-dose vials with different box shapes
(including fan-shaped and rectangular shaped), materials and volume. With the
integration of fully intelligent computerized numerical control and precision robotic
arms for assistance in production, the packaging efficiency can be increased by six-
fold. Besides, the system significantly enhances the stability of the packaging and
reduces material waste resulting from errors.

Outlook

Looking ahead, despite the various uncertainties in the market following the
COVID-19 pandemic, we anticipate a rapid recovery in the economic and cross-
border tourism industries as social distancing measures are lifted. We also believe
that the domestic and local retail sectors will see improvements in performance
compared to the previous year. Furthermore, in the post-COVID era, there is an
increasing focus among the general public on personal health and well-being,
which is beneficial for the development of the proprietary Chinese medicines and
dietary supplement industries. The Group will continue to focus on its core business
operations, including one-stop integrated Chinese medicine clinics, e-commerce
and the pet market. Additionally, we will embrace a spirit of “change and innovation”
and actively explore opportunities in different markets, including Chinese and
Western proprietary medicine, dietary supplement and personal care products.
Through mature and diversified sales models, we aim to increase the Group's
revenue and provide the maximum investment return for our shareholders.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Appreciation

I would like to take this opportunity to sincerely thank our business partners and
shareholders for their continuous trust in the Group, and express my gratitude to
all employees for their dedication and unremitting efforts. We will continue to exert
our utmost efforts to enhance the long-term sustainable development of the Group,
with the aim of achieving satisfactory return for the shareholders.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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For over the past century, Wai Yuen Tong has been an internationally
renowned brand with roots in Hong Kong. Looking forward,
we will continue to develop our core business with flexible operational
mechanisms and give full play to the synergy of TCM and western
pharmaceutical medicine and health food.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Consolidated Results

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (the “"Year”), total revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately 7.5% to approximately HK$1,286.4 million, which was
mainly attributable to the decrease in sale of properties in agricultural produce
exchange markets.

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately HK$20.5 million (2022: loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately HK$108.9 million). Such reduction in loss was mainly attributable to
the combined effect of (i) increase in gross profit generated from the production
and sale of pharmaceutical and health food products; (i) decrease in fair value losses
on owned investment properties; (iii) decrease in fair value losses on financial assets;
and (iv) decrease in loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments, as partially
offset by the absence of compensation income from litigation judgement for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in respect of the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for
the six months ended 30 September 2022 (30 September 2021: Nil).

Business Review

The Hong Kong economy experienced a significant contraction in 2022, following a
visible expansion in 2021. The contraction was due to the fifth wave of the COVID-19
epidemic in Hong Kong, a deteriorated external environment and tightened financial
conditions. The real GDP of Hong Kong for 2022 as a whole contracted by 3.5%
compared to that of 2021. Hong Kong's total exports of goods suffered a significant
drop, with exports to major markets such as Mainland China, the United States,
and the European Union declining sharply. This was attributed to the moderated
global economic growth and the disruption to cross-boundary truck movements
between Hong Kong and Mainland China. Exports to other major markets in Asia
also witnessed a decline in performance.

Moving forward, it is expected that the Hong Kong economy will experience
a significant rebound in 2023. Although demand from advanced economies is
projected to be weakened further, which may negatively impact Hong Kong's
exports of goods, the expected faster growth of Mainland China’s economy and the
removal of cross-boundary truck movement restrictions between Hong Kong and
Mainland China should provide some support for exports of goods from Hong Kong.
Additionally, with the lifting of quarantine arrangements for inbound visitors and the
resumption of normal travel between Hong Kong and Mainland China towards the
end of the Year, visitor arrivals are expected to record a strong comeback and serve
as a key driver of economic growth in the upcoming year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

O B e B o T oa)

Chinese Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

The fifth wave of the COVID-19 epidemic hit Hong Kong rapidly and fiercely. In
March 2022, the highly transmissible Omicron variant strain caused a turbulent
epidemic phase, during which the number of COVID-19 infections peaked and many
Hong Kong residents were left suffering from post COVID-19 symptoms, commonly
known as Long Covid. As a result, there has been a strong demand for Chinese
medicine practitioners’ consultation services and health supplements. At Wai Yuen
Tong, we prioritize the health of our customers. To facilitate proper treatment, we
activated online Chinese medicine practitioners’ consultation services. We also
launched several campaigns to help Hong Kong residents address Long Covid
symptoms, boosting sales of most of our respiratory-related products.

Despite the challenges posed by the epidemic, Wai Yuen Tong launched several
new products to reinforce our position in the Angong Niuhuang Wan market and
also entered the cancer supplements segment. In order to extend our care and
provide easier access of our products and services to the public, we continue to
expand our business by opening new retail outlets, listing in key drug stores, and
investing in our online presence.

As a result of the Group's efforts described above, the total revenue of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food products increased to approximately HK$635.0
million, equivalent to approximately 23.9% growth from the previous year.

Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

During the first 9 months of 2022, the economy of Hong Kong continued to be
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, stepping into the fourth quarter of
2022, Hong Kong has started resuming to normal with less restriction on commercial
and social activities. Notwithstanding this, the Group still faces business challenges
such as uncertain retail market sentiments and changes in consumption pattern.

Responding to such a turbulent market environment, the Group keeps striving
different efforts in realizing business opportunities in the market. “Madame Pearl’s”,
our flagship brand, achieved the Hong Kong cough syrup sales champion for 12
consecutive years, underpinned by our continuous efforts in strategic sales and
marketing activities. During the Year, the Group made sound and solid progress on
building up the effective Hong Kong trade channels on distributing “Luxembourg"-
branded products. Furthermore, to comply with Mainland China’s relevant
regulations, the Group has engaged various local distributors to increase the channel
penetration of the “Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s” brands into Mainland China.

"

As regards “Pearl’s”, another key brand of the Group, we have established leadership
in mosquito repellent product category in the Hong Kong market. The revenue of
"Pearl’s” Mosquitout product range reported a satisfactory growth over last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

During the pandemic period, consumer purchasing behavior has greatly shifted
from offline to online. In response to this trend, we have been actively deploying
resources to develop our e-commerce business channels, including the distribution
of “"Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl's” products through our own online platform (WYT
eShop) and selected third-party e-commerce platforms, e.g. HKTVmall, Ztore, etc. as
well as developing our cross-border e-commerce business.

"

As a result of the Group's efforts described above, the total revenue of Western
pharmaceutical and health food products delivered a growth of 100.1% over same
period of last year.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group owned 13 properties in Hong Kong which are all
retail properties or industrial building (whereas the Group has entered into two sale
and purchase agreements with respect to the disposal of two properties which
transactions are pending completion as of 31 March 2023). A majority of these
properties were used as the retail shops under self-operating and franchise modes.
The Group also owned agricultural produce exchange markets in the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The net fair value losses on owned investment
properties for the Year amounted to approximately HK$14.1 million (2022: net fair
value losses of approximately HK$83.3 million) as a result of the further deterioration
of property market condition.

During the Year, the Group subdivided a property at Ground Floor and Cockloft, Nos.
581 and 581A Nathan Road, Mongkok, Kowloon, Hong Kong into two properties. A
property was used by the Group as retail shop and another one was leased out for
generating rental income.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of a property-holding company
holding a property situated at Ground Floor of Bowring Building, No.14 Bowring
Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong for a consideration of HK$48.8 million on 22 March
2023. Please refer to the joint announcement dated 6 January 2023 of the Company
and Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On”) for details of the property disposal.

On 6 February 2023, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property-holding company
holding a property situated at the 11th Floor of Well Town Industrial Building
(together with the related roof portion and a carparking space), No. 13 Ko Fai Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$71.0 million, completion of which
took place on 19 June 2023. This property was classified as assets of a disposal
company as at 31 March 2023. Please refer to the joint announcements dated 6
February 2023 and 19 June 2023 of the Company and Wang On for details of the
property disposal.

O B Y B o T oa)

PEEHE  BEENEETADHRE
TARBEZZH E - BEHIHBE @ &
M—EEGEEREREEETHER
B BEABEERLEFENTER
BIREENE=ZHAETEHETLTEWE
HBEARA LB (HKTVmall) « % (Ztore)
L) Ao IR AL RIS B 2 I 3%
BRMNBEREETEEER -

eSS DERREE T
ARESNMNEREFRSER
100.1% °

MERE
NRZZTE-_=%=A=+—8 A&£ER®
ERBME13EME - 2 ATEDE
RITERE AMALEEEREER
PREMETYRNESHE  BHE =
T A=+ H%RERHHEERT
B o ZEMERI D AER S RIFHKE
ETEE o AEBEINNFEAREME
(FEDHEERERRSIMSE - AFE
BEREMENRFEBBEENR
14,100,000 TT(ZE = —4F : A EEFE
JFEB4783,300,000/87T) * Ty YMETIS
RS — B EFTE o

RAFE  REBBUNESNLETA
BB S81 R K581 AR T K & 2 W 2
DI AMEDE - —FEhRAEERES
EE - mMBE—EWEALHEARDRAS
I ONE:

RAFE  AEER_ZTE-_=F=A=
+HEERNEE—MBELREEN
EEEHUWRBEAEL THMEZY
=B BERF) - (B A48800,0008 7T ° B
BYELE S B2HAAFRE
ZEBERRAR(RZ)ERHA-ZS =
—F—ARNBZBERM -

RZZEZ=F_"A/B8  AEEEBS
BE=FFIVBRHESEDE  UBE—/M
BEUREBNESBERREN T
RKENWECGERMEEXE D &—EE
BHAOMWELMERBE LR REA
71,00000087C * ZRXRHERZTZ=%F
ANATNAZEK #HEZTZ=F=FH
=+—H ZWEELIEALERAZ
BE -BHEMELE L 20K
NAEIREEZAHA-—TE-_=F=H/xH
ZEZ=FARATNBZEERM -

fi S BB A
“xocaey 13



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

O B e B o T oa)

On 21 March 2023, the Group entered into a provisional sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to sell a property situated at Shop B on
G/F and Portion of the Yard, Nos. 66, 68, 70 & 72 Tai Wai Road, Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$66.8 million, completion of which will take
place on 30 June 2023. This property was classified as assets held for sale as at 31
March 2023. Please refer to the joint announcement dated 21 March 2023 of the
Company and Wang On for details of the property disposal.

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

China Agri-Products Exchange Limited ("CAP’, together with its subsidiaries, the
“CAP Group') is principally engaged in the management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC. The CAP Group managed 11
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC, across five provinces. During the
Year, CAP recorded revenue of approximately HK$562.8 million (2022: approximately
HK$830.5 million) which included (i) approximately HK$393.8 million (2022:
approximately HK$411.9 million) generated from operating of agricultural produce
exchange markets, and (i) approximately HK$169.0 million (2022: approximately
HK$418.6 million) generated from sale of properties.

Hubei Province

Wuhan Baisazhou Market

Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Wuhan
Baisazhou Market’) is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange operators
in the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated in the Hongshan District of Wuhan
City, the PRC with a site area of approximately 310,000 square metres and one of
the most notable agricultural products market in Hubei Province. Wuhan Baisazhou
Market was awarded top 50 of agricultural produce exchange markets by China
Agricultural Wholesale Market Association. The award was a sign to the market
contribution being made by the CAP Group's effort and expertise as an agricultural
produce exchange market operator in the PRC. Rental income from properties
letting is the major income generated from Wuhan Baisazhou Market.

The COVID-19 epidemic phased out since the beginning of 2023. During the Year, it
did not cause significant effect on this market which was able to remain in normal
operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Huangshi Market

Huangshi Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Huangshi
Market") is a joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in January 2015
with an operating area of approximately 23,000 square metres. Huangshi city is a
county level city in Hubei and around 100 kilometres away from Wuhan Baisazhou
Market. Huangshi Market, as a second-tier agricultural produce exchange market,
created synergy effect with Wuhan Baisazhou Market, facilitating vegetables and by-
products trading. During the Year, the operation performance of Huangshi Market
was steady.

Suizhou Market

Suizhou Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Suizhou
Market’) is another joint venture project of the CAP Group founded in March 2018.
It occupied approximately 240,000 square metres. The CAP Group pursued asset-
light operation business model by taking up the contract management rights to
operate this market. During the Year, the turnover of Suizhou Market increased as
compared to that of the last financial year.

Henan Province

Luoyang Market

Luoyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Luoyang Market")
is the flagship project of the CAP Group in Henan Province, the PRC, with a site area
of approximately 255,000 square metres. The turnover of Luoyang Market decreased
due to the decrease of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to
that of the last financial year.

Puyang Market

Puyang Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Puyang Market")
is one of the CAP Group's joint venture projects in cooperation with a local
partner in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year, Puyang Market faced keen
competition from a new market. The turnover of Puyang Market increased due to
the improvement in agricultural products transaction commission during the Year
as compared to that of the last financial year.

Kaifeng Market

Kaifeng Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (‘Kaifeng Market"),
with a gross floor construction area of approximately 140,000 square metres, is the
CAP Group's third market operation point for the facilitation of the building of an
agricultural produce market network in Henan Province, the PRC. During the Year,
the turnover of Kaifeng Market decreased due to the decrease of properties sale
recognition as compared to that of last financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region

Yulin Market

Yulin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Yulin Market”)
is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange markets in Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC ("Guangxi Region”) with a site area of approximately
415,000 square metres. The turnover of Yulin Market decreased due to the decrease
of properties sale recognition during the Year as compared to that of the last
financial year.

Qinzhou Market

Qinzhou Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Qinzhou Market”),
with a gross floor construction area of approximately 180,000 square metres, is
the CAP Group's second market operation point for the facilitation of the building
of an agricultural produce market network in the Guangxi Region. The operation
performance of Qinzhou Market was steady during the Year.

Jiangsu Province

Xuzhou Market

Xuzhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Xuzhou Market") occupies
approximately 200,000 square metres and is located in the northern part of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. The turnover of Xuzhou Market decreased slightly during the Year
as compared to that of the last financial year.

Huai’an Market

Huai'an Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market ("Huai’an Market"),
occupies approximately 100,000 square metres, is located at Huai'an City of Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. Phase one of Huai'an Market had been in operation since October
2015 and it is expected that the transaction volume of Huai'an Market will gradually
improve after the market becomes more mature.

Liaoning Province

Panjin Market

Panjin Hongjin Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market (“Panjin Market"),
with a construction area of around 50,000 square metres, is the CAP Group's first
attempt in investment in Liaoning Province, the PRC. Panjin Market focused on the
trading of river crabs and held regular market fairs. During the Year, the operation
performance of Panjin Market was steady. The turnover of Panjin Market decreased
slightly during the Year as compared to that of the last financial year.

E-commerce development

With the robust mobile network and widespread use of intelligent mobile devices
in the PRC, the CAP Group allocated cost effective resources to e-commerce
development. The CAP Group has launched a new electronic trading platform for
energizing the efficiency of agricultural products market. At the moment, the CAP
Group would take cautious cost control in electronic trading platform development.

1 8 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

ERARERE

EHk il 5
IMEERIERZITMH((EMT
BRPEEATEE SR EfRttE])
EAMEERR MG — @ GHbHEE
#3415,000°F 5K o RARFE - HRHER
RYZEEERD  EMTISHEEER
FESBFEEFRD

kM 117 B3
BMEERIERZZIMH (RME
B]) 2 BEEMMIEL80,000F 5K » A
PEEEREENE —EMSLEEE
2 HEPTREEREERERALRE
BUYBERMBRGE  RAFEE - SN
MHENEBERRET o

TEE

M i 8
HMNRIERRZMS((HRMNEHDL
1 #9200,0003F 772K+ L5 BT 8R4 4t
B RAFE - RMNMHENEESER L
B BFEEEHRD

Ve
ELRERFERXZMEB([ERZH
BDMRPENTIHREELT bl
100,000 F 52K o EL M IH—HR =T —
AF+ABEAZE  BHELZTHEHR
SEHFRMIZHEBKARELHE o

HEH

A ETir 5

BN ERIERXIMS ([ BEH
B 1) ZEREMIELI50000F 5K - AHE
EEMEEHREEAEPRESLAKRE
ZIHE - BEMBETRNTEBEET T
HBEORS5E - RAFE - BIRTIEHEHN
EERREBT - NAFE - BRTIEHN
BEET HEAMREEREARD -

ETEBERE
PEERANBBBMASREETFHRE
FEEZER  PEEEREECKA
RARHZNERRABRRETES -
BREEMRKECHELTNETHEYS
MR RERMSHME - BAT - HE
RERSENEFHETYAMENER
BN R AR A I -



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Unsecured Notes Due in 2024 (“Unsecured Notes”)

In May 2014, CAP established a HK$1,000,000,000 medium term note program. The
Unsecured Notes issued under the program are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) by way of debt issue to professional
investors only (Stock Code: 5755). As at 31 March 2023, the Unsecured Notes in the
principal amount of HK$150.0 million (2022: HK$290.0 million) remained outstanding
after the repurchase and cancellation in the principal amount of HK$140.0 million
during the Year. As at 31 March 2023, carrying value of the Unsecured Notes was
approximately HK$125.2 million (2022: approximately HK$219.5 million).

Financial Review

Liquidity and Gearing and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$7,013.8 million
(2022: approximately HK$7,597.7 million) which were financed by current liabilities
of approximately HK$1,657.2 million (2022: approximately HKS$1,881.3 million),
non-current liabilities of approximately HK$1,668.2 million (2022: approximately
HK$1,755.8 million) and shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$3,688.4 million
(2022: approximately HK$3,960.6 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group'’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposit
were approximately HK$559.4 million (2022: approximately HK$541.4 million).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total interest-bearing debts amounted to
approximately HKS$1,646.9 million (2022: approximately HK$1,681.2 million), all of
which bore interest at fixed and floating interest rates and were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and RMB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The table below summarises the Group’s borrowing profile: TRBMAEENEES)
As at 31 March 2023 As at 31 March 2022
R=-TB== N
=H=+—8 =HA=+—H
Approximate Approximate
effective effective
HKS$ million interestrate HKS million interest rate
B4 A
BEABT B = BEETT BERAI=
Unsecured Notes R R E 125 12% 219 12%
Financial institution borrowings SRIKBEE 1,516 5% 1,392 4%
A subsidiary of Wang On Ri—EHB AT - N/ATE A 70 10%
Other borrowings HtEE 6 7% - N/AZ 3 R
Total MGt 1,647 1,681

As at 31 March 2023, the Unsecured Notes issued by CAP will mature in September RZEBEZ=F=A=+—10 " PERE
2024; the financial institution borrowings of the Group will mature during the period uu RETIEERZRERENR T -MNF N

from May 2023 to May 2029; the loan from a subsidiary of Wang On of HK$70.0 BH  REBZERMEBEESR
million was fully repaid in August 2022; and the other borrowings of the Group will —ET-= Efﬁﬂ EZTNFHRAHME
mature in April 2023. EE kAR —ERBRARAMNEER

mwww%naﬁfz::iﬂﬂuﬁ
BE  AEENHEMEEBER T ==
PN A RIH o

The current ratio, being a ratio of total current assets to total current liabilities, was mEEEME RS EEHARDBEE L

approximately 1.6 (2022: approximately 1.5). The gearing ratio, being the ratio of RN BI6(ZEZZF - 4915) - BE

total interest-bearing debts net of cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits BEL X BEHBENRIES KB

to equity attributable to owners of the parent, was approximately 46.3% (2022: LERBEEREERBERETR T%ﬁ

approximately 45.3%). The Group always adopts a conservative approach in its AR 2 R B B463n(ZF ==

financial management. F 1 #453%) c REB—MFITEEMN
MBER -
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Significant Investments Held
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$193.7 million and approximately HK$47.4 million respectively,
details of which were set out as follows:

Name of Investments

e

(a) Financial assets at fair

() RAVESEHZERE

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Asat 31 March 2023
R=8==
ZA=t-H

Percentage

to Group's

net assets

Amount
held

fEA%E

fstl REFE

For the financial year ended

ZRA=t-BLHHEE

Fair value
gain/(loss)
AVE
s,/
(&8
HK$000

31 March 20

O B o e B g BT o)

FiFEARE
NRZZE_=F=A=+—8  ~A&EHEK
AFELEMEEREAR s CREE
DIEATFELERARZEHEED
7l £ 49193,700,00078 7T} #947,400,0007
JC - BB ¢

Fair value/
23 carrying amount

BE-3C-=

Interest
income

RSB

LAY/ BEE
Asat
31 March
2023

Asat
31 March
2022

Investment
costs

Dividend
received

R-B-=fF NZB=Z
ZA=t-H
HKS'000
{‘s’E‘TE

RERA

EkBE
HKS 000

value through other ANEZEHEE
comprehensive income:
- Eouityinvestmens - RERE
Wang On Ny ) 89271 1Y) (30901) - - 89271 120172 81,506
Others Hth ) 54378 147 1456 - 98 54378 26954 75851
- Debtinvestments - EBRE ] 50036 136 936 215 - 50036 19839 64653
Sub-total Nt 193,705 525 (28509) 2153 908 193,705 166,965 W00
(b)  Financial assets at fair ) BAFESERAEZ
value through profit SREER:
or loss:
- Unlisted funds - FLmER i) 41637 13 (5431) - 1192 41637 99644 %750
- Others - H i 5812 016 15 - - 5812 100% 5470
Sub-total NGt 47449 129 (5306) - 1192 47449 109,740 102220
Total @ 241154 654 (33819) 215 2120 241,154 276,705 34230
AT EEEERERAA
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

Wang On

Wang On is principally engaged in (i) management and sublicensing of fresh markets
and treasury management in Hong Kong and the PRG; (i) property investment, property
development and asset management in Hong Kong through Wang On Properties
Limited (Stock Code: 1243), its 75%-owned listed subsidiary; (i) manufacturing and/
or retailing of pharmaceutical and health food products through the Company,
its 67.26%-owned listed subsidiary; and (iv) management and sale of properties in
agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC through CAP, a 53.37%-owned listed
subsidiary of the Company. As at 31 March 2023, the Group is interested in 1,716,749,000
shares in Wang On, representing approximately 10.74% of all its issued shares.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other equity securities and bonds,
the fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00% of the net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other unlisted funds and derivative
financial instruments, the fair value of each of which represented less than 1.00% of the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2023.

Financial Review and Prospects of Significant Investments Held

(a)

22

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income include
listed equity securities and listed debt investments. The Group has always
adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor the market
changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when necessary. The
Group intended to hold these investments for long term purpose aiming to
generating a stable income.

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the Group’s investment in bonds
and equity securities amounted to approximately HK$50.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$19.8 million) and approximately HK$143.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$147.1 million), respectively.

The Group recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$28.5
million in the other comprehensive income for the Year (2022: net loss of
approximately HK$55.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
As at 31 March 2023, the Group maintained an investment portfolio of
unlisted funds and derivative financial instruments. The Group has always
adopted a prudent investment strategy and would closely monitor the market
changes and adjust its investment portfolio as and when necessary.

The Group had recorded a net loss on change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$5.3 million for the Year
(2022: net loss of approximately HK$31.7 million).

Foreign Exchange

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has material foreign exchange exposure
in RMB. A majority of bank borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
RMB. The revenue of the Group, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB,
matches the currency requirements of the Group's operating expenses. Currently,
the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.

The activities of the Group are exposed to foreign currency risks mainly arising
from its operations in Mainland China. The RMB exposure of the Group is mainly
derived from currency translation risk arising from the net assets of our Mainland
China subsidiaries. The re-translation of these net assets denominated in RMB into
Hong Kong dollars using the exchange rate as of the reporting date resulted in a
re-translation loss of approximately HK$243.1 million (2022: gain of approximately
HKS$132.6 million). The re-translation loss/gain was recognized in other
comprehensive income/exchange reserve.

Treasury Policy

With an aim to ensuring adequate financial resources are available for business
growth whilst maintaining a prudent capital structure, the Group manages its
financial risks including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. The Group
invests its surplus funds in equity securities and debt investments to maximize assets
efficiency.

Capital Commitment

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitment of approximately HK$225.9
million (2022: approximately HK$272.9 million) in respect of the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and payments of construction contracts, which were
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2023, certain bank loans of the Group were secured by the Group's
property, plant and equipment, owned investment properties and certain rental
income generated therefrom, properties held for sale, assets classified as held
for sale, assets of a disposal company, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and pledged deposits, with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$3,086.8 million (2022: approximately HK$2,926.4 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

O B e B o T oa)

Financial Guarantee

As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees of approximately HK$36.1
million to customers in favor of certain banks for the loans provided by the banks to
the customers of the properties sold (2022: approximately HK$45.5 million). Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on mortgage payments by
these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any sales
proceeds.

Other Significant Investments Held, Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

Save as disclosed above, there was no significant investment held, nor was there any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year. As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any concrete plan for material
investments or capital assets nor acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Litigation

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural By-Product
Grand Market Company Limited ("Baisazhou Agricultural’) from independent
third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun (“Ms. Wang") and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and
Commercial Development Co., Limited (“Tian Jiu") for their respective 70% and 20%
interests in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of civil proceedings in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil proceedings in Mainland China and
Hong Kong in respect of the Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In Mainland China, proceedings concerning Ms. Wang, Tian Jiu and the CAP
Group:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings against the PRC
Ministry of Commerce (‘MOFCOM’) in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court, seeking, inter alia, a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect of
the Baisazhou Acquisition.

[tis alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

(@)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements (the “Contended
Agreements’) in relation to the Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related
consideration was understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

24 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

B ER

NZZTE_=%F=A=+—8  K&EHz
ATRTMAMEEVNEZEFRHY
BERUNZERTAIZARNELIRME
FEIR#936,100,0008 T (ZFEZZF : 49
45,500,000/8 7T)  IRIEH BRI
fii 5 B B RN &R B HA Al #6 R 12 38 1+
FoAAEEERSEEEENERAMRK
BITHREEBERBASBRZNFER
SR - MR ERIHEFTS A -

PR EARE BAKISRLEN
BAT BEATRAEATUREK
BRI A W R RE B

B E XA S - R AT
ERIRE IR E A EAUES 5 B
BAT  BEARRAEAR  HE=
E-=F£=A=+—8  AEBLET
A B K o A o L 4
BAF - BEARRASARMNEET
2

it/

R-ZEZLF PREBREREERABY
F=REFREZL(ERT)REERXR
NIEBEHRARQARA(RADKERS
DRREEBADMBREIERATISER
Ral((EDPMNBRIESR]) 2 70%&k20%HE
m((ADMKEEE)) -

AoF - PEAESEERT
Bt R B RS EREMN © o
B REBEBEDNKEEE E
EREFDHIT -

RABERE  FEELt  RARYH
REMEEZHFD :
RZZE-HFHEA  ERERRARI
R E R RARER S B E
((EBBDRLFR - SFEE(EBE
B ETREB I RIEE A INKREFR
ZHUAE

FRERRNERMR

@ B2MHRBIERBERHEBDMN
Ik =18 2 B hEE S ((BEH
& wiHEAEBERERER -
BHREXM Rz #is %
fE



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

(b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for filing with
MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For Industry and Commerce (the
“Hubei AIC"), and that such documentation and the Contended Agreement
involved forged signatures; and

(0 MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou Acquisition and
processed the related fillings on the basis of the above documents that are
allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court directed
MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In May 2016, MOFCOM decided that
its approval issued in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked
and shall remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced administrative proceedings
against MOFCOM in the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking to set
aside the Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second Intermediate
People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (the “31 March
Judgement’). On 20 December 2018, the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld
the 31 March Judgement (the “20 December Judgement”’). Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial and for dismissal of (i) the 31
March Judgement, and (i) the 20 December Judgement, but this application was
dismissed by the Supreme People’s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by the CAP Group’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by MOFCOM
in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and remain
to be in force, and the CAP Group continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of
Baisazhou Agricultural.

In May 2015, the CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei Province (‘Hubei Court”) seeking,
inter alia, declarations and orders that the sales and purchase agreements for the
Baisazhou Acquisition (the “SPA”) have been legally made, and that Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge its contractual duties under
the SPA to make the necessary filing with MOFCOM (which were subsequently
withdrawn in April 2019 in light of the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM
approvals). Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return of
the CAP Group's 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural, which was dismissed by the
Hubei Court in December 2019 (the “23 December Judgement”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

O B e B o T oa)

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against the 23 December
Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP Group received the judgement of the
Supreme Court dated 29 December 2020 (the “29 December Judgement”) which
upheld the 23 December Judgement and dismissed the appeal of Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the CAP Group, according to the 23
December Judgement and the 29 December Judgement, the CAP Group continues
to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

In Hong Kong, CAP as plaintiff against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu as defendants:

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in the Court of First Instance in the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI") against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser)
sought damages from Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various
provisions of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst others, an
order that CAP shall cause and/or procure the shares in Baisazhou Agricultural to be
transferred back to Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect that undertakings (the
“Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not to (i) indorse, assign,
transfer or negotiate the two instruments (purportedly described as promissory
notes in the SPA) (the “Instruments’); and (ii) enforce payment in relation to
the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the final determination of these
proceedings or further court order. Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments
will no longer fall due for payment by CAP on 5 December 2012.

The CFI handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021 awarding damages in
favor of CAP for sums exceeding the sum owed under the Instruments (the “HK
Judgement’). The CFl also ordered that the damages awarded to CAP be set-off
by the sum owed under the Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be
allowed to enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required to
make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian Jiu. Further, as the
counterclaim of Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the legal
and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.

On 20 April 2023, the CFlI ruled in respect of the total damages that Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP in respect of the HK Judgement and ruled that Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu shall pay to CAP damages in the sum of HK$567,037,325.74, together
with interest thereon at judgement rate from 18 January 2021 until payment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Up to the date of this report, CAP is seeking legal advice for the recovery of damages
against Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu.

Prosecution commenced in the PRC by Wuhan Jianghan District People’s
Procuratorate against the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr.
Zhou Jiu Ming (“Mr. Zhou")

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District People’s Court
("Jianghan Court’) dated 19 November 2021 (the “19 November Judgement’),
the former director of Baisazhou Agricultural, Mr. Zhou, instructed other associated
personnel of Baisazhou Agricultural to unlawfully misappropriate funds of Baisazhou
Agricultural in the sum of RMB40.0 million for his personal use. Wuhan Jianghan
District People’s Procuratorate commenced prosecution against Mr. Zhou for
a penalty. Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November Judgement that: (1) Mr.
Zhou was guilty of misappropriation of funds and was sentenced to five years of
imprisonment; (2) Mr. Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of RMB40.0
million to Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance with the law.

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate People’s Court ("Wuhan
Court’) dated 11 January 2022 (the “11 January Judgement’), Wuhan Court
ordered that the appeal by Mr. Zhou against the 19 November Judgement be
dismissed. The 11 January Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

Further details regarding the material civil proceedings of the CAP Group can be
found in the interim/annual reports and announcements issued by CAP.

Events After Reporting Period

On 12 April 2023, CAP repurchased outstanding Unsecured Notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$10.0 million via open market. The repurchased notes
had been cancelled on 21 April 2023. Details of repurchase were disclosed in the
announcement of CAP dated 12 April 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Relationship with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group recognizes our employees as the key element that contributes to the
Group's success. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 1,941 (2022: 1,872) employees,
of whom approximately 35.4% (2022: approximately 34.4%) were located in
Hong Kong and Macau and the rest were located in Mainland China. The Group
remunerated its employees based on industry practices and individual performance
and experience. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and
share options may also be granted to selected staff by reference to the Group’s
performance, where appropriate, as well as the individual's performance. In addition
to the Company’s existing share option scheme, CAP has in August 2022 adopted
a share option scheme to incentivize eligible participants under such scheme to
reward and encourage them to work towards enhancing the value of CAP. The
Group also provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our eligible employees in Hong Kong and pays
retirement contributions in accordance with the statutory requirements for our
Macau and PRC staff. Other benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and
structured training programs were also provided. Meanwhile, the Group endeavors
to provide a safe workplace to our employees. The Board believes that the Group
maintains admirable relations with the employees.

Besides, the Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationships
with the stakeholders, including business partners, suppliers, customers,
shareholders, investors and bankers to achieve its long-term business growth and
development. With an aim to enhancing the competitiveness of the brands of the
Group, it endeavors to provide consistently high quality and large range of products
to its customers; and to build up and maintain a trustworthy and long-term
relationship with its suppliers.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group examined the principal risks facing the Group through our risk
management and internal control system and we considered that the major risks
and uncertainties that may affect the Group included:

(i) industrial policy risk: (a) with the deepening of medical system reform
and the issuance of a number of industrial policies and laws in respect
of medical charge control and control of medicines and certification for
traditional Chinese medicine significant effect may be brought to the future
development of the pharmaceutical industry; and (b) obtaining all necessary
licenses and permits for the development, construction, operations and
acquisition of agricultural produce exchange markets;
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(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

environmental protection policies: environmental impact caused by waste
and wastewater generated during the pharmaceutical manufacturing process
and the construction and operations of agricultural produce exchange
markets, efficiency and security of key infrastructure;

cost control: the Group may not always be able to implement cost control
measures to effectively counter the effect of rising product cost and/or
decrease in income;

allowance for obsolete inventories: allowance for obsolete inventories due to
weather, expiry date of unsold products and other damages;

supply chain disruption: raw material shortage or price inflation due to
industrial issues, risks of supplier control and flexibilities, to deal with
competitive pricings;

inability to penetrate emerging markets: the Group may not be able to
effectively penetrate traditional industries and traditional products into
emerging markets;

respond to customer behavior: the Group may not be able to respond
effectively to economy recession, reduction in consumer spending and
change of impulsive shopping behavior;

sourcing: less globalized sourcing and lower cost competitiveness;
volatility in retail rental: continuously increasing in retail rental may reduce

our profitability if we are unable to pass on the effect of such increases to our
customers; and

foreign exchange: unfavorable fluctuations in the exchange rate may
adversely affect the Group's cash flow and profits.

(i)

(iff)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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In response to the above mentioned possible risks, the Group has been closely
monitoring the changes in the policies in Hong Kong and Mainland China, and
would strengthen our interpretation and analysis of policies and adjust strategies
in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment. In particular,
the Group will strengthen the marketing management to cope with changes
in consumer behavior and needs, closely control inventories, establish our own
sales policies and product development, safety management and environmental
protection level, and push forward the construction of lean management and risk
control system. For possible risks, the Company would actively propose solutions to
lower their impacts on the business of the Company.

Prospects

Chinese and Western Pharmaceutical and Health Food Products

Although advanced economies may be experiencing recession, the expected
faster growth of the Mainland China’s economy and the lifting of cross-boundary
restrictions between Hong Kong and Mainland China should offer some support for
exports of goods in Hong Kong. Additionally, it is expected that there will be strong
rebound in visitor arrivals which serves as a significant driver of economic growth in
the upcoming year.

Moving forward, with the largest team of professional Chinese medicine
practitioners in Hong Kong, Wai Yuen Tong will follow its motto “Preparing Medicine
with Dedication, Growing Strong with Reputation”. Our key focus is to increase our
market share by opening both self-operated and franchised retail outlets in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Macau. We will also strengthen our overseas footprints. Furthermore,
we will continue introducing new products to meet the customers’ evolving needs.
E-commerce is expected to play a crucial role in serving our consumers online in the
next financial year.

Management and Sale of Properties in Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets

During the Year, the tension between the PRC and the United States worsened and
has slowed down the economic growth. However, such friction has little impact
on the CAP Group's operation which mainly focused on the domestic market.
Looking ahead, the CAP Group will continue to build a nationwide agricultural
produce exchange network by leveraging on its leading position in the industry,
readily replicable business model, well-advanced management system, information
technology infrastructure and quality customer services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Since the beginning of 2023, COVID-19 epidemic phased out in the PRC and the
local governments have lifted most of the health and hygiene measures imposed. Al
of the CAP Group's agricultural produce exchange markets followed but maintained
a certain level of health and hygiene measures as its competitive edges over many
local and less-sophisticated competitors. This also helps it be better adapted to the
post-pandemic market environment as public health and hygiene become a major
topic in the future.

Once again, agricultural development is the PRC Central Government's first priority
policy for the next consecutive years. In 2023, the Central Committee of Communist
Party of China and the State Council of China released the “No. 1 Central Document
of 2023". The document vows to promote investments in agricultural produce
markets, expand the agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure
and storage facilities for agriculture products and improve regional cold storage
infrastructure. On the other hand, it is expected that the “Belt and Road Initiative”
policy will continue to drive the overall growth of the PRC economy and provide a
sustainable way for the PRC's continuing development.

In order to capture new business opportunities, the CAP Group has taken further
steps to expand its operations in the PRC by cooperating with different partners
with an “asset light” strategy. It has also explored online platform development to
capture the opportunity brought by technology advancement and data economy. A
further expansion of the CAP Group's scope to wet market and trading is also being
pursued. With its leading position in the industry, the CAP Group is confident that its
business strategy and operation model will deliver long-term benefits to CAP and its
shareholders as a whole.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management

ERGLRAEHE

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, G55, Jp, aged 61, was appointed as the Chairman of the
Company in August 2001 and also assumed the role of Managing Director with
effect from 1 April 2018. He is also an authorised representative and a member of the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee and the chairman of the
executive committee of the Company. He is a director of several subsidiaries of the
Company. He is responsible for the strategic planning, policy making and business
development of the Group. He has extensive experience in corporate management.
He is also the chairman, an executive director and an authorised representative
of Wang On Group Limited, and the chairman, an executive director and an
authorised representative of China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (a subsidiary of
the Company), both of which are companies listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tang is a deputy director of the Committee on Education, Science,
Health and Sports of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC"), a committee member of the 12th to 14th
National Committee of CPPCC and a standing committee member and convener
of the 10th to 13th Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of CPPCC.
Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive chairman of the Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations and the chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong Shenzhen Associations. He is the father of Ms. Tang Wai Man, an
executive Director and is also a controlling shareholder of Wang On Group Limited
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man, aged 32, joined the Group in January 2016 and was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 April 2018. She is an authorized representative of the
Company under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance and also a member of the
executive committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company. She is a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Tang
is responsible for sales and marketing, channel sales and retail operation in Hong
Kong and Macau of the Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK
with a Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining the Group, she
had worked for Wang On Group Limited since July 2014 as an assistant to chairman
and other experience in financial analysis, sales and marketing and business
development in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman and Managing
Director and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita, aged 60, joined the Group in 2004 and is the Assistant
General Manager — Purchasing Processing of the Group. She was appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the executive committee of the Company on
8 February 2021. She is a director of several subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Law is
responsible for overall strategic planning, sales and marketing, raw material sourcing
and retail operation in Hong Kong, Macau and the Mainland China of the Group. She
has extensive experience in pharmaceutical industry covering strategic planning,
sales and marketing, new products development and production management.

32 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

EHE

HITES

B cas AFHE NT R
RZEE—FNAEZTAKRRRE
BoYR T N\FNA—HRIAE
HREIE o AR ARRERER AR
FTNEESRIREREESKERTEHZ
BEXFE - HAAQATZEWBEARZ
BE  cWESAEERERE - FIFTK
FREBEE HECEEBEIEAR
LELR  TARLZEEBBRARZE
& ITEESRBRRREREARANE
RETFEREMRGERRBZERE -
HITEEHRFRERR - LR R
RFETERLET - BEERBTRARBSA
mEem(BB)2EZEeHREHE
ZECEET  BHBET_EZE+H
E2HEZESZEBULBRETREES
T EERAAKERREBEZETEE
RAEAN BLENEZTREEBER
HEBEeE—RITEELREERILE
BweeR FANTESEHESZLZ
R MBARRERBRRELZEEE
FRAR)ZIERRARER o

HEH L =1+ RZE—~F
—RAMAXEHE IR -F—/\FNA
—BEZERATES - RARAKRD
FHETEERR - BRAREER
ZBg RAZEENFHEREK
B - RA/ARBZHMBLABIZES -
BLLtAEAEERELBFINIHE
EMGHE  REHERTERE -
EXRNEEETERE  FEREAR
(BRB)XBIE L2 - IMAKXKER -
mE-T-MNFLtARRNRELEHE
ERAPEETIEYE  URETEE
REBLEBBERM BN - HERTS
HE - UREBEROEMER - K5
RRT)EEREFRLIE MIERBORE
BAREZ S -

BEELL  NtE R_ZTHFM
AREHE  RAKEREMNTARBIER
KB R T —F_ANBEZE
BARPMTEEREBLZEGKE -
BARARRZEMNBARZES - BX
TREAKEREE  RFIRTEAM
MEBRRIERE  HERTHEZEH R
MHRBRTEER - WNHETER
BEERR  PRRBRE  HERD
BEH MERRBREEER -



Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ho, v+, aged 73, was re-designated as an Independent Non-
executive Director in April 2006 from a non-executive Director and he joined the
Group in 1994. Mr. Leung is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He has more than
57 years and 26 years of experiences in the watch industry and financial industry
respectively. He is a member of the 11th and 12th plenary session of the National
Committee of the CPPCC, the chairman of Greater Bay Area Committee (also being
an Honorary Standing Committee Member) of The Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce, a Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association
of Hong Kong, the Chief Supervisor of Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in
Guangdong and the Chartered President of the Dongguan City Association of
Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Mr. Leung has also been appointed as a
candidate of 2021 Election Committee of HKSAR Chief Executive, Subsector-
Commercial (Second). Mr. Leung has also been appointed as a member of the
Election Committee of HKSAR 2022 Chief Executive Election.

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, aged 49, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in August 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Siu is a practising solicitor of the High Court of
Hong Kong. He obtained a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Hong
Kong in 1996 and is a partner of a law firm, namely Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum, and a
China-Appointed Attesting Officer. His areas of practice include corporate finance,
capital markets, securities, mergers and acquisitions, joint ventures and general
commercial matters. Mr. Siu is also an independent non-executive director of each
of Litu Holdings Limited (stock code: 1008), Shuang Yun Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1706) and HKE Holdings Limited (stock code: 1726), all of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Cho Wing Mou, aged 82, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director in September 2001. He is a member of the audit committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Cho was formerly a director and deputy general
manager of Hua Chiao Commercial Bank Limited and a deputy general manager
of The China State Bank Limited. He was a committee member of the 8th Political
Consultative Conference Guangxi and is also a committee member of the 4th
plenary session of the Guangxi Yulin Committee of the CPPCC, Life Chairman of
Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin Friendship Association, the Life Chairman and the advisor
of Hong Kong Guangxi Yulin City CPPCC and Life Chairman of Gee Tuck General
Association Hong Kong Limited.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

HEGAHREHNE

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, v+, aged 68, joined the Company as an Independent Non-
executive Director on 17 March 2015. He is the chairman of the audit committee
of the Company. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, UK. Mr. Li is an independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the audit committee of Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited
(stock code: 563). Mr. Li is also an independent non-executive director, the chairman
of the audit committee, member of the nomination committee and member of the
remuneration committee of China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1123), Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 120)
and Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 533), an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the audit committee and member of the remuneration
committee of China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 144), an
independent non-executive director, member of the audit committee and member
of the remuneration committee of Continental Aerospace Technologies Holding
Limited (stock code: 232), all of such companies are being listed in Hong Kong.
Mr. Li has retired as an independent non-executive director and ceased to be the
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration committee, and a member
of the nomination committee of CR Construction Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1582), a company listed in Hong Kong, on 25 June 2021.

Senior Management

Ms. Cha Yan Fong, joined the Group in November 2022 as the General Manager
of the Group. She is responsible for managing the Chinese medicine business
unit, overseeing and supervising sales and marketing team and non-retail and
product marketing team. Prior to joining the Group, she had over 20 years of
experience in well-known companies, in which she took various senior positions in
sales, marketing management, business development with proven track records,
especially in pharmaceutical and personal care product industries. Ms. Cha obtained
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honors) specializing in marketing in
the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Dr. Tsang Yuen Wo, joined the Group in September 2018 and he is currently
the Director (Technical) of both the Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Group and the
Luxembourg Medicine Group, principal subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible
for technical operations of the Group including quality assurance, quality control,
production, research and development, regulatory affairs, engineering and logistic
issues. Dr. Tsang received his BSc(Pharm)(Hons) degree at the Aston University and
the PhD degree at the University of Sydney. He is a registered pharmacist and a
registered Authorized Person of the Pharmacy and Poisons Board of Hong Kong. He
has more than 20 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. Academically,
Dr. Tsang was the Honorary Associate Professor of the Department of Pharmacology
and Pharmacy, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, the University of Hong Kong from
2010 to 2023 and he is currently the Adjunct Associate Professor, College of Life
Sciences and Technology, the School of Professional and Continuing Education,
the University of Hong Kong. Regarding professional services, he was the Chairman
of the Pharmacy Central Continuing Education Committee from 2013 to 2017 and
he was responsible for continuing education of all registered pharmacists in Hong
Kong. He is currently the Managing Editor of the Hong Kong Pharmaceutical Journal.

Mr. Chan Siu Fai Daniel, joined the Group in September 2021 as the Head of
Factory Operations and he is responsible for monitoring factory routine operations,
implementing, reviewing and improving factory workflow to achieve efficient
management in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration in University of South Australia and a Bachelor Degree of Engineering
(Honors) in Manufacturing Engineering in Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr.
Chan has more than 31 years of experience in factory operation.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus, joined the Company in February 2021 as the
Company Secretary and is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute.
He holds a Master Degree of Professional Accounting, a Master Degree of Corporate
Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree of Arts in Translation.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung has over 11 years of experience and held
company secretary positions in several Hong Kong listed companies, including
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (stock code: 149), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Board recognises that good corporate governance practices serve as an effective
risk management for the growth of the Company that will promote and enhance
the benefit of its shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”). The Company
is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance with a strong
emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity and independence.

The Company continued to adopt the principles and comply with the code
provision of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules during the year under review. The Board has periodically
reviewed the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Company had complied with the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board, also
assumed the role of managing Director. Currently, the Company does not propose
to comply with code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the time being but will
continue to review such deviation to enhance the best interest of the Group as a
whole. Details of such deviation are set out below in the section headed “Chairman
and Managing Director”.

Code for Securities transactions by Directors and
Relevant Employees

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, as amended from time to time, (the “Model Code") contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries by the Company, all of
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code throughout the year under review.

The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group
who are considered likely to be in possession of inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities. To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all
relevant employees complied with the required standard of such code throughout
the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Dividend Policy

In November 2018, the Company adopted a dividend policy, which is intended to
be prudent and sustainable and will be evaluated from time to time. There is no
assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any particular
period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, the Board
may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of dividend(s) to
its Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any financial year depending on,
among other things, the Company’s operation and financial performance, liquidity
condition, capital requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

Business Model and Strategy

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the manufacturing and sale of traditional
Chinese medicine; (i) the manufacturing and sale of Western pharmaceutical, health
food and personal care products; (i) property investment; and (iv) the management
and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange markets in the PRC. The
Group continues its proactive expansion strategy for generating and preserving
shareholder value over the longer term.

With respect to the core Chinese and Western pharmaceutical and health food
products business, the Group will further leverage its edge in vertical integration. In
order to achieve this objective, the Group is enhancing the effort on new products
research, development and registration, especially focus on those Chinese and
Western medicinal products which possess their own uniqueness and curative
effect. The Group also extends its retail and medical service network aggressively to
gain market share.

With respect to the property investment business, the Group acquired CAP in mid-
February 2020 and continues to look for and acquire sizeable and potential retail
premises for mitigating the effect of rental costs.

On the other hand, the Group continues to closely monitor the market for merger
and acquisition opportunities if it can bring synergy to our existing business, as well
as diversification of its investment portfolio for strengthening and broadening its
income base. The Group also takes active and prompt measures from time to time,
reviewing and adjusting its business strategy and adopting various controls over
costs, if necessary, so as to maintain the Group's profitability. Besides, the Group
strives to maintain a healthy financing structure and devotes effort to securing
banking facilities which is regarded as an important element for supporting
continuous business development of the Group.
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The Board

Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, G8s, Jp
(Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, MH

Ms. Tang Wai Man is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The biographical details of
the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 34 of this annual report.

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience which are
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the Company. The opinions
raised by the INEDs in Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. As at the date of this annual report, the Board has four INEDs,
representing more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has
the appropriate professional qualification and/or accounting and audit experience
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. A
balanced composition of executive and non-executive Directors (including INEDs)
also generates a strong independent element on the Board, which allows for an
independent and objective decision making process for the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Board's composition includes different gender,
age, cultural and educational background, and professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Company has reviewed the composition of the Board and discussed
from time to time to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary
expertise, skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's businesses and to
enhance the Shareholders’ value. All Directors are aware of the required levels of
fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an updated list of the
Directors identifying their roles and functions are available on the websites of the
Company (www.wyth.net) and HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The nomination
committee of the Company (the “"Nomination Committee’) and the Board will
review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the Board
possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
needs of the Group's business and to enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed without specific term set out in respective letters of
appointment and all of them are subject to retirement by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)"). All INEDs' terms of office will
be renewed automatically after the re-election, unless prematurely terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions specified in the letter of appointment, the
Bye-Laws, the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Companies Act’) and the Listing
Rules, each as amended from time to time. Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the
CG Code and bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) are required to retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at each
annual general meeting. In addition, any Director who is appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board are subject to re-election
at the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their appointment and
on an annual basis. All INEDs are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023. The INEDs would not participate in the Group's daily
operation and they would abstain from voting on any resolution(s) in which he had
any interest and, therefore, the Company continues to consider the four INEDs to be
independent for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior Management

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities and performance of the
Group and its primary functions cover, among other things, the formulation of
overall strategy, the review of corporate and financial policies and the oversight
of management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from these, the Board
reserved for its consideration and decision on major acquisitions and disposals,
review of interim and annual financial results, appointments and removals of
directors and auditors, the evaluation on the performance and compensation
of senior management, any material capital transactions and other significant
operational and financial affairs. With a view to maintaining an appropriate balance
between authority and responsibility, such functions are either carried out directly
by the Board or indirectly through various committees established by the Board,
with respective functions set out in their written terms of reference.
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The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not involved in the day-
to-day management of the Group. The general management and day-to-day
management are delegated to management of the Company, including but not
limited to the preparation of regular financial information, execution of designated
assignments, and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter(s) shall abstain from voting at
such Board meeting(s) and the INEDs with no conflict of interest shall attend at such
meeting to deal with the matter(s).

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to discharge their
responsibilities to the affairs of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to
the Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public organisation and
other significant commitments from time to time.

During the year under review, regular Board meetings of the Company were held
four times to review, consider and approve, among others, annual and interim
results and to review the business operations, corporate governance practices and
the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems of the Group.
Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when
necessary, to consider, among others, material transactions of the Group. At least
14-day notice for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart from the regular Board
meetings and pursuant to the CG Code, the chairman of the Board also met with the
INEDs without the presence of any executive Director during the year under review.
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Chairman and Managing Director

During the year under review, Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the chairman of the Board,
has also assumed the role of the managing Director. Mr. Tang has extensive
management experience in corporate management in the industries of the
Group and is responsible for overall corporate planning, strategic policy making
of the Group which is of great value in enhancing the efficiency to cope with the
recent fierce competitive and ever-changing retailing market environment and
the communication between the Board and management, so as to ensure the
effective execution of the Board's strategies. Furthermore, the Board considers that
Mr. Tang is an executive of high caliber with a wide range of skills and diversified
business expertise and there are various committees and experienced individuals
dealing with specific assignments and business unit(s) and managing the daily
business operations. Moreover, the Board comprises three executive Directors and
four INEDs with balance of skills and experience appropriate for the Group's further
development. The Company had no intention to make any change to comply with
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code (i.e. the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual) at the
moment but will continue to review and propose, as and when appropriate, by
taking into consideration of such deviation and any other relevant factors, to ensure
the maximisation of the benefit of the stakeholders of the Company.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the corporate
governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that
an effective governance structure is in place to continuously review, monitor and
improve the corporate governance practices within the Group with regard to the
prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, reviewed the code of conduct applicable to the
Directors and employees, monitored the policies and measures on the Company’s
legal and regulatory compliance, training and continuing professional development
of Directors and reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in discharge of its
corporate governance function.

Board Diversity

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced
development. In June 2013, the Company adopted a Board diversity policy (the
"Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to diversify the Board and
was reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the Board
composition on behalf of the Board and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy and the nomination

policy.
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In designing the Board's composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
independence and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider
factors based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and meritocracy
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board recognises the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board
level and shall continue to take initiatives to identify suitable candidate(s) to enhance
the gender diversity among the Board members. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board comprised seven Directors, of whom five were male and two were female.
The Board considered gender diversity on the Board has been achieved. When
selecting and making recommendations on suitable candidates as Directors in the
future, we will consider our diversity policy and ensure the diversity of the Board.

Our diversity philosophy including the gender diversity was generally followed in
the workforce throughout the Group for the year under review. As at the date of this
annual report, approximately 25% of our senior management and approximately
67% of our total workforce were female, excluding the CAP Group. We will continue
with our endeavor to achieve a balance in gender ratio.

During the year under review, the Board comprises seven Directors, including three
executive Directors and four INEDs, thereby promoting critical review and control
of the management process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and the Board's
composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in
the Board Diversity Policy had been met.

Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
so as to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The company secretary
of the Company regularly circulates training materials or reading materials to all
Directors in respect of the updates on, among other things, the Listing Rules, the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")
or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”) and financial or accounting standards
which may be of the interest to the Directors and benefit for them to discharge their
duties. Each of the Directors (being Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man, Ms. Law
Man Yee, Anita, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and
Mr, Li Ka Fai, David) has complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and has
participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills for the year under review.
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In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides and circulates to
the Directors with monthly and regular updates relating to the Group's business,
financial position and business environment, in which the Group operates. During
the year under review, all Directors complied with the code provision in relation to
continuous professional development. Apart from reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business, the updated rules and regulations and other director's duties
and responsibilities by all Directors, the Directors also enhanced their professional
development by way of attending seminars and/or forums.

The company secretary of the Company updates Directors constantly on the latest
developments regarding the Group's business and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

During the year under review, all Directors have provided to the Company with their
training records, and such records have been maintained by the company secretary
of the Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors against liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate
activities. Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed with consultant advice
on an annual basis.

Board Committees

The Board has established various committees including executive committee (the
‘Executive Committee’), the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee, each of which has the specific written terms of reference that will be
reviewed and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all meetings and resolutions
of the committee meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company
and open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions and
recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005 with specific written
terms of reference setting out authorities delegated by the Board. Its primary
function is to undertake general management and supervise the day-to-day
management, performance and operations in accordance with the business strategy
of the Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review strategy and
business development initiatives of the Group and monitors their implementation.
Currently, the Executive Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Tang
Ching Ho, Ms. Tang Wai Man and Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita. Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes
the chair of the Executive Committee.

1i 58 8 6 ol o)

AN ARBZ REWME TR EFRM
BRAREHEMZEMLHEMER - A
RERAKEES  BHERRAEANEH
REMBREBRE - REBEFEA - M
BEEHETERRBESEZRTAK
XoBReRERMBEARARBERS
BHORBEBROUAR b EERE S
BEEZEMS  E2MEBSNMANE
R/ SmBlE TR ER -

ARBZRmWERESREARAE
BEXBREMEREEREZRNER
AR URETRECEERTR -
VIREEEHEERITENES

REEFER  FIEEFHIRARALR
HEFIIRE  ZFLEBHARRZA
BIWERF ARRGCEERE -

EECERERR
ARARZHHEENEETRSABERE
R UREFRARRIEXBARB LR
RRELZEEIEHRE - AQFEER
BERERRRFRNLER LB RRE
o

EHREZEG

EFEeCRUZEEE S BREHZ
Ee(EKBEE88) FELZB2(ER
Zz88)) wHZES(FMEEED N
RAZES SZEHFEREER
BEHE ZFRESESERMANLR
FEEH - ZBECRMATHLER
RERVBARRZ ARMERF I
AHERESAERKAEBAM T REM
EERRAEH SZESHEATEER
ATRERENERAEFERS

FREEE

FREEER _TTAFERY i A
REEEBESE  FIHEFERT
ZHiE HTXERERETEBEER
REASEXGREEEARERE X
BREE HBEREE  FIEL TR
AARERREEREBRRTS - WE
BEE®RBER - B BHEREEH=
ZRRBAENK - BB KA - BEE K
ITRESERL -HBEALEREHER
BgXF-

fEREERARAT
—zo—sem 43



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

& E IR Wy )

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established with specific written terms of reference
stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules, which are available on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). Currently, the Audit Committee comprises
four INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon
and Mr. Cho Wing Mou. Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among other things, to assist the Board to
review and monitor the financial reporting independently, including interim and
annual results, to supervise over the Group's internal control and risk management
systems, to monitor the internal and external audit functions, the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the auditor and to make relevant recommendations
to the Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable reporting. The
functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board and
amended from time to time, as and when appropriate, in order to be in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so as
to ensure that management has discharged its duty to have an effective internal
control and risk management systems including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff to implement the Group's accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties
and may access to independent professional advice according to the Company's
policy, if considered necessary. During the year under review, the Audit Committee
held two regular meetings with the Group’s senior management and the external
auditor.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the interim results
for the six-month ended 30 September 2022 to ensure the full, complete
and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the
accounting standards and other legal requirement for presenting the same to
the Board for approval;

(b)  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of Ernst & Young as
external auditor to audit and report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and to perform the
agreed upon procedures on the interim results for the six months ended 30

September 2022;
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(©  the terms and remuneration for the appointments of external auditor to
perform non-audit services, other special corporate projects and review the
overall significant control system;

(d)  the independence of the external auditor especially for those non-audit
services;

(e)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

() the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems; and

(g the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff and the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting matters and their training
programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees, effectiveness of
the audit process, independence and objectivity of the external auditor and
has recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the
Company's external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since September 2005
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties. During the year, the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised to include the reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as a duty. The revised terms
of reference was published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) on 30 December 2022.

The Remuneration Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Siu Man Ho,
Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai
Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the year under review and up to the
date of this annual report. Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon is elected as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice in
accordance with the Company's policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.
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The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@)

46

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management'’s remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing a
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the senior management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, including but not
limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not
excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his
own remuneration;

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules;

to advise shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service contracts
of directors that require shareholders’ approval under Rule 13.68 of the Listing
Rules;

conform to any requirements, direction, and regulation that may from time to
time prescribed by the Board, the Bye-laws or any other applicable laws and
regulations; and

the chairman or another member of the Remuneration Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared to respond
to questions raised by shareholders on the Remuneration Committee’s
activities and responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings, in
which it reviewed the existing remuneration policies by reference with the market
research and current market circumstance, communicated with the chairman and
managing Director, recommended amendments to the existing remuneration
policies and performance-based bonus, if appropriate, and approved the
remuneration package and performance-based bonus paid to the other Directors
and senior management of the Company (i.e. the model described in the CG code is
adopted). No Director took part in any discussion about his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue to discharge its major
roles to, among other things, approve the terms of the service agreements of the
Directors and the senior management, make recommendations with respect to the
remuneration and policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company
and to review the remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses,
including the incentive awards for Directors and senior management.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to financial statements.
The annual remuneration of the senior management by bands for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management by bands

1B 58 B 6 ol o)

REBEFERN  HFHEZESERMAE
& §L2BRmSMRARETSERR
TEHAGNHFMER HXFMES
REIERON  IRAHHERRIRRR
BEE 2 JEAL (RE ) 1R BB R - A
MtERARREMEERSRERE
S 2 H B IR R TE 2 FEAL(RD
RACEERTAMENER) - &
EMABL2EFREAS HM 2 T

A
afg ©

YFINEZBRCEITRSHERETETR
B (AheRitEEskafheE
BB mEZIGR  REERARA
ERERBZFM B RRELER
O NEENSMAERE2FMTELE
Thes Rt - EAL (B 1R RE) IR H
e

EEHFMFBEHINN M B REMETO -
HE-_T-_-F-F=-+—HILHHEF
B mfREBEzFEMeSRETIM
T

Number of
individuals

BEREEBCMEER AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference, as revised from time to time, stipulating its
authorities and duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). It currently consists of five
members, including Mr. Cho Wing Mou, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Leung Wai Ho,
Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Tang Wai Man, a majority of whom are INEDs during the
year under review and up to the date of this annual report pursuant to the Listing
Rules. Mr. Cho Wing Mou is elected as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

REZEE
RHEZECEEH_ZTZTAFTLAREK
o BREAGIHEEREBE 2HRE
ERHREDSE (K TREF)JRAR
AL (www.wyth.net) & 3% 5 5 43 Uh
(www.hkexnews hk) & B o AR EEFE &
BEEAFHRAR REZESHFHA
BB - BREKELE  BXX
S REMEE BB LAEREE
it EFRELEWAR - KBHAK
BABUIINITES - BXBREEE
BRHEZEEER -

f R ARAT
—zo—ray 47



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

& E IR Wy )

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and evaluation
of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a Director and senior
management. The Board has formalised and adopted its existing practices into
a nomination policy in October 2018. The nomination policy stipulated the key
selection criteria and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably qualified
candidates for appointment to the Board. The selection criteria and procedures
specified in the nomination policy include:

1.  Selection Criteria
- in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee will consider the factors (as reference), including reputation,
integrity, accomplishment and relevant experience in relation to the
principal businesses of the Company from time to time, commitment
in respect of available time and relevant interest, diversity in all its
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above),
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. These factors are for reference
only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate;

- retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board to stand
for re-election at a general meeting. For those who have served as
INEDs for a period of nine consecutive years standing for re-election,
the Nomination Committee will consider the independence of such
Director for nomination by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reason in the circular to the Shareholders for the
re-election;

- candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal information
in a prescribed form, together with their written consent to be
appointed as Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their personal
data on any documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as Director(s); and

- the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s) to provide
additional information and documents, if considered necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a meeting of the
Nomination Committee, and invite nominations of candidate(s) from
Board members, if any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board's consideration and approval. For
proposing candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s) nominated by
the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, and to invite
nominations from the Shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment period for the
Shareholders to make the nominations. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the proposed
candidate(s) will be included in the circular to the Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company secretary within
the lodgment period of its intention to propose a resolution to elect a
certain person as Director, without the Board's recommendation or the
Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than those candidate(s) set
out in the circular to be sent to the Shareholders. The particulars of the
candidate(s) so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for information
by a supplementary circular;

a candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her candidature at any time
before the general meeting by serving a notice in writing to the
company secretary;
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the Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidate(s) to stand for election at any general
meeting; and

as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies available, and
the “gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be
elected as Director, the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) by
the Shareholders shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions
proposed for the candidate(s) recommended by the Board.

In respect of the Board Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the benefits
of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors implementation of
this policy as part of the process of selecting and nominating candidates for
appointment to the Board. Candidates are considered against a broad and
diverse range of aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among
other aspects also include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(a)

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge, independence
and length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify and nominate individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. In identifying
suitable individuals, the Nomination Committee shall consider
individuals on merit against the objective criteria, with due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board;

to assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs" annual
confirmations on their independence and make disclosure of its review
results in the corporate governance report of the Company;

to regularly review the time required for a director to perform his/her
responsibilities;

to review the balance between executive and non-executive directors
and the blend of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the
Board;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

to keep under review the leadership and succession needs of the
organisation with a view to ensuring the long term success of the
Group;

to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
board diversity policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance
report annually;

to ensure that all Directors offer themselves for re-election every three
years by shareholders;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board, every director should
receive a formal letter of appointment or enter into a service contract
with the Company, as appropriate;

where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an INED
at the general meeting, it should set out in the circular to Shareholders
and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting:

- the process used for identifying the individual why the board
believes the individual should be elected and the reasons why it
considers the individual to be independent;

- if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship, why
the Board believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

- the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

- how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board; and
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the chairman or another member of the Nomination Committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be prepared
to respond to questions raised by shareholders on the Nomination
Committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent professional advice
according to the Board Diversity Policy and its written terms of reference, if
considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
to review the Board Diversity Policy, evaluate the Board performance and
succession planning and discuss the criteria and procedures for retirement by
rotation. The Nomination Committee would recommend to the Board for re-
appointment of Ms. Tang Wai Man, Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita and Mr. Siu Man
Ho, Simon at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Attendance of Directors at Various Meetings

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and shareholder meetings held during the financial year ended 31 March
2023 are as follows:
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Special Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General General
Committee = Committee = Committee Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors ERZEEE FMZEEE REZEE RRBIAE BRREFAS
Tang Ching Ho HE 44 N/ATER 22 22 0N 1/1
Tang Wai Man HEs 44 N/ATER 22 22 1/1 1/1
Law Man Yee, Anita BEYE 44 NATDER  NADER  NATER 0/1 11
Leung Wai Ho 2% 4/4 3/3 22 22 0N 0/1
Siu Man Ho, Simon B 4/4 313 22 22 0/1 11
Cho Wing Mou &g 4/4 3/3 2/2 22 0/1 11
Li Ka Fai, David FHE 4/4 33 NATER  NATER 11 1/1
Risk Management and Internal Control J\ K 4 B K A R G
The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and o BEERETERAEE
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, ® ER H *ﬁ RRERZAENRRITEE K2
and ensuring that the Group established and maintained appropriate and effective E - BERAEEELMESSBEMAEM
risk management and internal control systems covering financial, operational, HERERERANEZERG  REY
compliance and risk management aspects. % &8 aAkREBRERESE -
The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal controls that are BEREESRAERNEAEEMEEE
significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The Audit Committee would consider 7( R EIE RN IR E - B%ZE

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience and training of staff and
external advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Management of the Group is responsible for designing, maintaining, implementing
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems to ensure
adequate control in place to safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholder’s interest.
Management may report from time to time any finding, recommendation and
remedies to the Audit Committee.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address and handle all
the significant risks associated with the businesses of the Group. The Board would
perform an annual or periodical review on any significant change of the business
environment and establish procedures to response to the risks resulted from the
significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associated with the businesses of the Group
by considering both internal and external factors and events which include political,
economic, technology, environmental, social, governance and staff. Each of risks
has been assessed and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied to each type
of risks according to the assessment results. Each type of risk management strategy
has been listed as follows:

- Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or undertake actions by
the Group to reduce the impact of the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to avoid the risk;

- Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or allocate to
different location or product or market; and

- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to reduce the risks
associated with the businesses accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external advisory firm to
undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. All findings and
recommendations on internal control deficiencies were communicated with the
Audit Committee and the Board.
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Management confirmed that no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system was identified by the external advisory firm for the
financial year ended 31 March 2023. The Board conducted an annual review on
the risk management and internal control systems and procedures of the Group,
covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance and
it was considered that the internal controls and risk management functions were
reasonably effective and adequate for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Inside Information Policy

The Group always emphasises the importance of transparency of communication
between the stakeholders and the Group and has established policies and
procedures for timely disclosure of inside information to the public when available.
The senior management of the Group will take all reasonable measures from time
to time to ensure that the disclosure of inside information is in compliance with the
requirements of all applicable laws and regulations.

External Auditors’ Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young,
for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 which has been reviewed and approved
by the Audit Committee, are set out as follows:

EHEERR RNEE_ZT-_=F=A=
+T—RIEFBRFE - SNEBEM AR E
BN NEPEEIE R A AT I (R EE K ERFA K
BE o oHE-ZE-_=€=RA=+—HI
FHBEE  EEeCRAEEZRARE
BREASEERGREFCREMTE - &
BRNAREMAERERER ETFE
EHIRE - NIPEERERERERE
EEAMI TR -

REHBBER
AEE-BEIERHNERNEE ZHDN
BERBAN YERIERERERF - A
EEBRAARALTHREARTHEE - AEH
SRERBETRRR ) AEEM
HRABHEENRENTEaMBERER
FOEMM B -

B 15 A% B i - 557

HE-_Z-_=—4F=-A=+—HILUHKF
EEAR EAARRIINEZHME XS
M ES TN EERETESEH
Kb - AT -

Fees paid/payable to

Ernst & Young

Bt B =K

Bz EAR

HK$’000

Services rendered for the Group e 7= £ (8 Fir 2 14 AR 75 TET

Audit services: EZRE

—annual financial statements - FEBBHRE 5,580
Non-audit services: IEEIZRTE -

- agreed-upon procedures -BEEF 678

~ taxation and professional services - M REERE 303

- other professional services - Hith BE R 28

Total #at 6,589
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Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation and publication of
the timely financial statements and ensure that they are prepared in accordance
with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. In preparing
the accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors have
adopted suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s operations
and relevant to the financial statements and have presented an understandable
assessment of the Group's position and prospects.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the accounts are prepared on a going concern
basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to the events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company'’s ability to continue as
a going concern. The Directors continue to explore any opportunities with potential
investors to enhance its financial position and business development of the Group
by way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out on pages 84 to 91 of this annual report.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to commit to comply with the relevant laws and regulations,
such as the Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules
and other rules and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the
Board is concerned and save as disclosed herein, the Group has complied in material
aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening efforts on environmental
protection, so as to facilitate industrial upgrading. The Group proactively implement
environmental protection policies, gradually adjust its portfolio, conduct energy-
saving, using recycled paper, emission reduction and pollution prevention and
so forth. The Group not only improved the quality management system but also
strengthened the quality of the audit to ensure the quality and safety of Chinese
and western pharmaceutical project control. Being an environmental friendly
corporation, the Company does not print hard copy of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report. The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are disclosed in a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be
published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk).
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Investor Relations and Communications with
Shareholders

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective communications with
shareholders and investors (both individuals and institutions) to ensure that the
Group's information is disseminated to stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance. A shareholders
communication policy has been adopted by the Company and the same is
available on the website of the Company (www.wyth.net). Other major means of
communications includes:

Disclosures on Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial position will be
disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars and
other corporate communications which will be sent to shareholders and/or
published on the websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.wyth.net). Other inside information will be released by way of formal public
announcements as required by the Listing Rules and the Inside Information
Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings and various general
meetings are valuable forums for the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders. Members of the Board and the members of various committees are
encouraged to attend and answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let the Shareholders to make an informed decision at the general
meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 clear days for every general
meeting and 21 clear days for every annual general meeting were given to the
Shareholders pursuant to paragraph 14(2) of Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, bye-
law 59 of the Bye-laws and any other applicable laws. The chairman will explain
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll during the proceedings of meetings
and answered all questions raised by the Shareholders on voting by poll. All
resolutions put to vote at general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results
are published on the websites of the Company (www.wyth.net) and the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) immediately following the holding of the general meetings.
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Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2022 annual general meeting on each
substantive issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such resolutions as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2022 are set out
below:

Percentage
of Votes
READL

Resolutions proposed at the
2022 annual general meeting

R-ZB-_FRRBFASLRHZRER

LE ZEREMNEE T _—_F=ZA=1+—
HIEFEARRRGEEZGATHERE 5
GREMIZHANRE -

1 To receive, consider and adopt the audited
consolidated financial statements and the reports of
the directors and auditor of the Company for the

year ended 31 March 2022. 99.9%
2()  To re-elect Mr. Tang Ching Ho as a Director. BEWBNLERES - 99.9%
2(i))  To re-elect Mr. Leung Wai Ho as a Director. EEREETERES 99.9%
2(iii)  To re-elect Mr. Li Ka Fai, David as a Director. EREFFELEERESE - 99.9%
2(iv)  To authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ EEZEECETEEN: -

remuneration. 99.9%
3 Tore-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company /B2 %2 5k @ 1Al =5 75 BT A& 7N A B 4% 2160 30 15 4

and to authorise the Board to fix their remuneration. ~ ZEEEEBTHME - 99.9%
4(A)  To grant an unconditional general mandate to the RTYESEE  FIREERARRRAZES

Directors to allot, issue and deal with securities inthe 2 (& —ARIRHE -

capital of the Company. 99.9%
4(B) To grant an unconditional general mandate to the BTEERERM 2 BIEHE—RRE -

Directors to repurchase Shares. 99.9%
4(C) To extend the general mandate granted to the BARTESRELOROEBERITESZ

Directors to issue securities by the number of Shares ~ —f&IRHE °

repurchased. 99.9%
5 Toapprove the new share option scheme of CAP. HEPRERER ZIERETE - 99.9%

To approve and adopt the new Bye-laws of the o MR AR B2 SR TR o
Company. 99.9%

REEBE
AEBICHIELTBHOREEBR
g ERELHERRGEANEE 2K
BR - AURFEAIREEEHEEN - 1
EEFER  RMRREERTEZRE
& ANBREEESENGCES

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that keeps investors
and the Shareholders abreast of the Group's latest development and discloses
relevant information to the public in a timely manner. During the year under review,
we held various meetings with investors and participated in investor and press
conferences.

ARBCEHBERBBBERZATER
REXE URRKERDEFEANE
R o

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered it to be effective during the year under
review.

T E BRI AR AR
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Shareholder’s Rights

Convening a Special General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, the
Board whenever it thinks fit call special general meetings and shareholder(s) holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company to require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM,;
and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share registrars and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary of
the Company will inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to
all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order,
the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, the SGM will not
be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a SGM, the requisitionists or any of them representing
more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act, but any SGM
so convened shall not be held after expiration of three months from the said date of
deposit of the requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be convened by the
Board.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to Section 80 of the Companies Act and bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, to
put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company, the shareholders at the
date of deposit of the requisition representing not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company, to require general meetings of the Company to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution specified in
such requisition. The requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 3101, 31/F,
Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries
Limited, at 17/F,, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong with a sum
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or
not less than one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as director(s) at a general
meeting are set out in the “Corporate Governance” under section headed under
"Corporate Profile” on the website of the Company at www.wyth.net.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing by email
to contact@waiyuentong.com or by addressing their enquiries to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company in the following manners:

In respect of corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Secretaries Limited

17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate the achieving of
high possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. Procedures are
formulated to enable individual employees to disclose internally and at a high level,
information which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or impropriety
within the Group. During the year under review, no incident of fraud or misconduct
was reported from employees that have material effect on the Group's financial
statements and overall operations.

Company Secretary

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus, who was appointed as company secretary of the Group,
reports directly to the Board and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and
timely information to all Directors from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Cheung complied with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules and took no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

Corporate Social Responsibility

While the Group endeavours to promote business development and strives
for greater rewards for our stakeholders, we acknowledge our corporate social
responsibility to share some burden in building the society where our business
has been established and thrived. The Group is conscious of its role as a socially
responsible group of companies. It has made donations for community well-being
from time to time, supported the communities and encouraged its employees to
participate in any charitable events and caring services. Given the support from
management, the Group built up a team of staff volunteers to get involved in
volunteer work.

Constitutional Document

With a view to complying with the applicable provision of Core Shareholders
Protection under Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules and making certain housekeeping
amendments, the Company has adopted the amended Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company by a special resolution passed on 26 August 2022.
Details of the amendment were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
25 July 2022. Save for the above, there was no change in the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Memorandum of Association and the new bye-laws are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company at (www.hkex.com.hk) and
(www.wyth.net), respectively.

60 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

BHBUR

ARREHERBHRERUREETER R
fl- BEREEZRRRTRE - AR
B C B E AR Fr LA GE (8 5IE B 1F R &R &
BRERE  BREEAARSRBRAEE
PTRITEHINZITRZER - REIBEF
BA - EEEREEAFRITHE
TRAMBAERE T HHRRREREZE
EREATE -

ACEE

RS TS RN
£ ERNEEGWMSRAE(EHE
15) TS [ T A AR AR T R 2 A
%o

BE T -_=F=ZA=+—HILWHKF

€ RIECAEEST EMRBIE200K - 200
AR5 2 L o

4 33 6 H AT
AEBBNEDEBKLZE  AEHEF

BEFERBRAFRE - WEE LI 24t
THARLENGELSET AEEE
REEBELSETZEBMARMEE
zAaE  TEATSZEAELER
THERTEEEES S HIMNESED
MEAERE EBEEBZIET - A&
By —SEBIXMEEER  BiRSH
EFEE TIE -

R

AEST LR A S =D R R E’J
BRGXAAIERETARBKER - AR
Eﬂ_v__ij\ﬂ +/\ELMT%IJ3%
S %é{ NEEBERKEA LR
L EIRRCH ui\ ERARBRHA
7__¢tﬁ THHABEHPRKE -
BrbdESN  BE_ZT-_=F=A=1
—BIEFE  ARAHEBEREANMR N
BRI R o

A0 A Z A2 KA N 3R R AR BN o Bl A B A
Ffr 48 3 (www.hkex.com.hk) Kz 28 22 B 48
(www.wyth.net) B &,



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
1 3% B IR o)

Conclusion o

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its corporate governance RERNK NEBREETHRTED

practices to maintain high level of transparency, to enhance the Company’s XERBHUGFSKEZERE @ 18

competitiveness and operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable development AERRBZHEF N RBERE - WHE

and to generate greater returns for the stakeholders. REABERR  ARMHEBAEESZE
W e
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Report of the Directors
5 H ek

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries comprise the production and sale of traditional Chinese
and western pharmaceutical products, health food, personal care products, property
investment, management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets. Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
financial statements. During the year under review, there were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and the Group's
financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 92 to 96 of this annual report.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recorded a revenue and loss
attributable to owners of the parent amounted to approximately HK$1,286.4 million
(2022: approximately HKS$1,391.4 million) and approximately HK$20.5 million (2022:
loss of approximately HK$108.9 million).

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the financial
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the six
months ended 30 September 2022 (for the six months ended 30 September 2021:
Nil).

Business Review and Analysis of Key Financial
Performance Indicators

The business review and the key financial performance indicators to the businesses
of the Group, including, among other things, the information set out below, are
disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 31 of this
annual report:

(@)  afairreview of the Group’s business;

(b)  principal risk factors;

(©  ananalysis using financial key performance indicators; and

(d)  future development in the Group's business.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and performance of the
Group are disclosed in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” in this annual report. More details will be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in due course. These discussions form part of
this report of the Directors.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the financial year ended 31 March 2023.

Share Capital and Share Option Scheme

Details of movements in share capital and share option scheme of the Company
during the year under review, together with the reasons therefor, are set out in notes
33 to 34 to financial statements, respectively.

Equity-Linked Agreements

During the year under review, other than the Share Option Scheme as set out in the
section headed “Share Option Schemes” under the “Report of the Directors” and
note 34 to financial statements, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked
agreements.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements, is set out on page 248 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities of
the Company

During the year under review, the Company repurchased a total of 27 million shares
of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange. All the repurchased shares
were subsequently cancelled by the Company on 27 September 2022.

Details of the share repurchases during the year ended 31 March 2023 are as follows:

Number of
share
repurchased

ERERGOBE

(in million)

(BER)

Month of repurchase

September 2022 —E-—FNA 270

Purchase price per share

3 G R T N i
T 27

REBEFEEA » AR R AT A
A a4 ££27,000,0000% F A% E{E0.0175 7T
2D ARBEBER T -__FNA
Zt+EBEHEERBLRRY -

HE-ZT-_ZF=ZA=+—RLFEZ
BAn BB EIFHEIT

Aggregate
amount
EREDE R
Highest
&S
HKS
BTT

Lowest

K
HKS
BT

HKS (in million)
AEATT
0.38

0.36 9.96

27.0

9.96

The repurchases of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31 March 2023
were made pursuant to the mandate granted by the Shareholders at the 2022
annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2022, with a view to
benefiting the Shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per share
and earnings per share of the Company. As at 31 March 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue was 1,204,642,888
shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the financial year
ended 31 March 2023.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs
of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of their respective offices
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group
for the year under review.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to equity
holders of the parent, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
amounted to approximately HK$48.1 million (2022: approximately HK$26.3 million).

Directors

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Ching Ho, 685, Jp,
Chairman and Managing Director
Ms. Tang Wai Man
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Wai Ho, mH

Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon

Mr. Cho Wing Mou

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, mH

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Tang Wai Man,
Ms. Law Man Yee, Anita and Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon will retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all INEDs,
namely Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon, Mr. Cho Wing Mou and Mr. Li Ka
Fai, David, and as at the date of this annual report, the Company still considers them
to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 32 to 35 of this annual report.

Update on Director’s Information

Details of the change in remuneration of Directors, if any, were disclosed in note 9 to
financial statements.

Mr. Tang Ching Ho was appointed as a deputy director of the Committee on
Education, Science, Health and Sports of the National Committee of CPPCC in March
2023.
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Mr. Li Ka Fai, David was re-designated from a member to the chairman of the audit
committee, from the chairman to a member of the remuneration committee and
retired as a member of the nomination committee of China Merchants Port Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 144) in December 2022.

During the year under review, save as disclosed above, there is no other change in
information of the Directors since the publication of the 2022 interim report which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by such company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts

Save as disclosed in notes 9 and 41 to financial statements and the section “Directors
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations”, no Directors or a
connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company, the holding company of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Director’s Interest in Competing Business

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a business,
apart from the businesses of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of
the Listing Rules during the year under review.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short HHEEEITBABRAL
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures ) B HOH Wk 2 e 4y ~ AH B
of the Company and its Associated Corporations Ji& A B AR HE 8 vh 2 B 4 B iR

<

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the RZEBE_=F=A=1+—H EEZNEAK
chief executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates in the RAIEETBABR SEESEZME
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated ] BB N TR AR Bl sk E AT ] #8555
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register (EERBHFLEEEMIEXVE) 2 &
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as -~ WBERDREEED  BEAEHAR
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of NAEIRIBER S KB GOIFES26EFE
the SFO or the Model Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows: 2 &M iR E RS KR GRAIZEXY
sk ETARR 2 EETFRIE STAE R
NRIRE R R FORAINT -

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated RARB RERB ZERL FEIEE

corporations, Wang On, CAP and Wang On Properties Limited (“WOP"): B RTHEAR AR ([ZRBE])E
B 2R
(@) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (a) MEQATFEBERZHFE

Approximate

percentage of

the Company’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HAERT BT

IR BEEB A

ATk

Name of Director Number of shares (Hiat1)

EERE RHOEE %

Mr. Tang Ching Ho 810,322,940 (Note 2) 67.26
BE A e A (K17#2)

U EEEERERAF] 67
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(b) Long positions in the ordinary shares of Wang On (the “Wang On
Shares”), an associated corporation of the Company:

Name of Director Name of corporation

EEHSR REEHE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho Wang On
R RR

(b) RAQFBEBEERZNERR

(RZBRGBDZEFR
Approximate
percentage of
Wang On’s
total issued
share capital
(Note 1)
HEREBITRA
BEMYADL
Number of shares (Htat1)
BRG B %
7,780,645,772 (Note 3) 4869
(HfE3)

(c) Long positions in the ordinary shares of CAP (the “CAP Shares”), an

associated corporation of the Company:

Name of Director Name of corporation

EEgE YNCIECE
Mr. Tang Ching Ho CAP
BEEA A P REMR

(0 REQAEBEIETERERNE
BR(HERERKRGDZFR :

Approximate

percentage of

CAP’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HHEEER
ERTRAAEMY

Aot

Number of shares (Htat1)
RDEE %

7,320,095,747 (Note 4) 73.54

(Het4)

(d) Long positions in the ordinary shares of WOP, an associated
corporation of the Company:

Name of corporation

ExpR DEEHE

Name of Director

Mr. Tang Ching Ho WOP
BB M EE

11,400,000,000 (Note 5)

(d) REQAEBEIERZMBENEE
Rz :

Approximate

percentage of

WOP’s

total issued

share capital

(Note 1)

HEZMER
BITIRABEBD

ALt

Number of shares (HfaE1)
BB %

75.00 (Note 2)
(f17£5) (Htat2)
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The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed
under the SFO as at 31 March 2023.

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang") was interested in 810,322,940
shares of the Company held by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited ("WOE") which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his
associates were taken to have approximately 48.69% interest.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of the
Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,780,645,772 Wang On Shares, 28,026,339 Wang
On Shares were beneficially held by Mr. Tang, 4,989,928,827 Wang On Shares
were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang by virtue of being the founder of a
discretionary trust, namely Tang's Family Trust, 28,026,300 Wang On Shares
were taken to be interested by Mr. Tang in which his spouse, Ms. Yau Yuk Yin,
was interested, and 486,915,306 Wang On Shares were held by Caister Limited
(@ company wholly owned by Mr. Tang), 531,000,000 Wang On Shares were
held by Billion Trader Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame
International Limited (‘Loyal Fame”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Easy One Financial Group Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang),
and 432,475,200 and 1,284,273,800 Wang On Shares were held by Suntech
Investments Limited and Hearty Limited respectively (both direct wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Total Smart Investments Limited (“Total Smart’), which is directly
wholly-owned by the Company, which is owned as to approximately 67.26% by
Rich Time.)

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website of
the Stock Exchange, amongst the 7,320,095,747 CAP Shares, 2,007,700,062
CAP Shares of which were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger
Investments’) and 5,312,395,685 CAP Shares of which were held by Goal
Success Investments Limited (‘Goal Success”). Onger Investments was directly
wholly-owned by Loyal Fame. Goal Success was directly wholly-owned by
Biomore Investments Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart.
The Company was owned as to approximately 67.26% by Wang On which was
owned as to approximately 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with his associates. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in the 2,007,700,062 CAP
Shares which were held by Onger Investments and the 5,312,395,685 CAP Shares
which were held by Goal Success.

With reference to note 2 above, 11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by
Earnest Spot Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE).

Hist

5.

=R WA
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T-=F=A=1-A2RERNEH
BERERE -

RIEES MGG - B8 st A (88
%4 J) 7Rich Time Strategy Limited ([Rich
Timel) (BRZ 22 &AM B A FWang
On Enterprises (BVI) Limited([WOE]) Z &
EW B AR R A R8103229400 AR A 7]
AR - BB E R
B AWAR BYETR £4869%.2 fEam o

BEAERBIAML EREER
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28,026,339/ R B R {7 B BO 5L A B 1%
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any other
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code.

Share Option Schemes

The Share Option Scheme(s) of the Company

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2013, the
shareholders of the Company approved the termination of the share option scheme
previously adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the special general
meeting held on 18 September 2003 (the “2003 Scheme”) and the adoption
of a new share option scheme (the “2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Upon termination of the 2003 Scheme, no share
options was granted thereunder but the subsisting share options granted prior
to the termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the 2003 Scheme. The 2013
Scheme became effective on 22 August 2013 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period of 10
years from that date.

Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, share options may be granted to any Director or
proposed Director (whether executive or non-executive, including INEDs), employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time), secondee, any holder of
securities issued by any member of the Group, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group or any substantial
shareholder or company controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of
participants (the “Participants”).

Under the 2013 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to the Participants
to subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each
lot of share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days from the
offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings. There is no specific requirement that an option
must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is
empowered to impose at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of
grant of any particular option. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised for a period of more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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Pursuant to the 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of share options that may
be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is the number, upon their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any shares issued
on the exercise of share options. The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2013 Scheme and any other
schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as at
the date of approval of the 2013 Scheme limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each Participant
(except for a substantial shareholder or an INED or any of their respective associates)
under the 2013 Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the number
of shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of such limit must be separately approved by shareholders of the Company
with such Participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting. Share options
granted to any Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
(or any of their respective associates) must be approved by the INEDs (excluding
any INED who is the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to
a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) will
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of share
options already granted and to be granted to such person under the 2013 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each date of
grant, in excess of HKS5 million, such further grant of share options is required to be
approved by shareholders of the Company in a general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted to a substantial
shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be
approved by shareholders of the Company. The exercise price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company. The 2013
Scheme, which was adopted on 22 August 2013, will expire on 21 August 2023.
Following the expiry of the 2013 Scheme, the Company proposed for the adoption
of a new share option scheme for shareholders’ approval in the forthcoming annual
general meetings of the Company and Wang On. Details of the new share option
scheme were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 28 July 2023.
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During the year under review, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the 2013 Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the 2013 Scheme is 126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.5% of
the Company’s total issued share capital.

Other particulars of the 2013 Scheme are set out in note 34 to financial statements.

The Share Option Scheme(s) of CAP

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a share option scheme (the “CAP 2012 Scheme”)
for the primary purpose of providing incentive to selected eligible persons to
take up options for their contribution to the CAP Group. The CAP 2012 Scheme
was terminated on 2 May 2022, the last effective date of the CAP 2012 Scheme,
no further share options was granted under it since then but the share options
granted prior to such termination will continue to be valid and exercisable during
the prescribed exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the CAP 2012
Scheme.

CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the "CAP 2022 Scheme") with
the approvals of the shareholders of CAP, Wang On and the Company at their
respective annual general meetings held on 26 August 2022 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives and recognition to eligible participants (the “CAP
Participants’) for their contribution or potential contribution to the CAP Group as
detailed below.

CAP Participants include directors of CAP Group, including independent non-
executive directors and employees, who work for any member of the CAP Group
and/or any person or entity that provides services to any member of the CAP Group.
The CAP 2022 Scheme became effective on 26 August 2022 and will remain in force
for a period of 10 years to 25 August 2032.
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Under the CAP 2022 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP (the “CAP Board") may
grant share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for CAP Shares. The offer of
a grant of share options must be accepted by the relevant CAP Participants within
14 days after the date of grant upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 for each lot
of share options granted. The exercise price is to be determined by the CAP Board
and shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the CAP Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of the CAP Shares
as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
a CAP Share.

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any CAP
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the CAP Shares in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial shareholders of CAP or
independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of their respective associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the shareholders of CAP. There is no
specific requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period before
it can be exercised but the CAP Board is empowered to impose at its discretion
any such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by CAP Board at its
absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period of more than
10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of CAP at general meeting, the board of
CAP may refresh the limit at any time to 10% of the total number of CAP Shares in
issue as at the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its general meeting.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2022
Scheme and any other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.
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Details of the movements of the share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme during
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 were as follows:

BE_Z_=—"F=ZA=t+—HLUHEF
ftT : qalJ_Euu_? ——FHETHE

Number of share options
RRELE
Exercise Closing price
Outstanding Granted Exercised Cancelled Forfeited  Outstanding price per immediately
Name or category of asat 1 April during during during during asat31March  Date of CAP  Exercisable before
Participant 2022 the year the year theyear the year 2023  grant ShareHKS  period (Note)  date of grant
R-B-ZF it St £330
BA-H ZA=t-A SRTERER R#AH
SRENE SRR HAGR EACRE FREAE  FACHE ERERR  HAGE  RUAH ROTEEER REWD) kg
CAP Director
TERERES
Leung Sui Wah, Raymond 50,000,000 - - - - 50000000 312022 018 312022212032 017
Other employees 176,000000 - - - 15000000 161,000000 312022 018 312022212032 0117
HfEE
Total 226,000,000 - - - 15000000 211,000,000
aft
Note: Kt -

The share options granted under the CAP 2012 Scheme were vested as follows:

On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant:
AR B ESE3EF ¢
On the 4th anniversary of the date of grant:
B BB 4B F ¢
On the 5th anniversary of the date of grant:
AR BB BF
On the 6th anniversary of the date of grant:
AR BB eEF
On the 7th anniversary of the date of grant:

PR EEE7ESF

During the year under review, 15,000,000 share options were forfeited and no share
options were granted, exercised and cancelled under the CAP 2012 Scheme. As at
the date of this annual report, the total number of CAP Shares available for issue
under the CAP 2012 Scheme was 186,000,000, representing approximately 1.87% of
the existing issued share capital of CAP. As the CAP 2012 Scheme expired on 2 May
2022, no more share options under the CAP 2012 Scheme could be granted.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

During the year under review, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled under the CAP 2022 Scheme. As at the date of this annual report, the total
number of CAP Shares available for issue under the CAP 2022 Scheme is 995,306,782,
representing approximately 10% of the existing issued share capital of CAP.

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme and the CAP 2022 Scheme are set out in
note 34 to financial statements.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” and “Share option schemes” above and in the share option
scheme disclosures in note 34 to financial statements, at no time during the year
under review were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons
had, or were deemed or taken to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of shareholders

Number of shares

BREEEB

RARAEBROEE

Approximate percentage of
the Company's total issued
share capital (Note 3)
EERDRREBITRAE
RESNEIL

(Kiz£3)

RHEE %

Rich Time (Note 1) Rich Time(A7zE1) 810,322,940 67.26

WOE (Note 1) WOE(Hf:£1) 810,322,940 67.26

Wang On (Note 1) R (Hiati) 810,322,940 67.26

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Note 2) B Rt (faE2) 810,322,940 67.26
Notes: et -

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang was interested in 810,322,940 shares of the Company held by
Rich Time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Wang On in which Mr. Tang together with his associates held approximately 48.69%
interest.

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is taken to be interested in the shares in which her spouse, Mr. Tang is
interested.

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure forms filed under
the SFO as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, there were no other persons who
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions

2 and

3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be

kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following transaction continued to be continuing
connected transactions for the Company under Rule 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules:

(@)

76

On 19 September 2016, Daywin Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the following office sub-licensing agreements
for a term commencing from 18 September 2016 and expiring on 17 July
2019 which were renewed for further three years commencing from 18 July
2019 and expiring on 17 July 2022:
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Wang On Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Management Services
Limited ("WOMS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On,
to sub-lease Units 02, 03, 05, 06 and 15, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of
HK$188,940 (up to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$193,375
(from 18 July 2019 onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement),
together with other monthly expenses (including management fee and
air-conditioning charge, rates and Government rent, subject to annual
increment); and

WOP Office Sub-licensing Agreement:

an office sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties Services
Limited ("WOPS"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WOP, to sub-
lease Units 01 and 07 to 12, 32/F,, Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly fee of HK$414,672 (up
to 17 July 2019) which was increased to HK$425,745 (from 18 July 2019
onwards until the end of the tenancy agreement), together with other
monthly expenses (including management fee and air-conditioning
charge, rates and Government rent, subject to annual increment).

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the aggregate office sub-licensing fee
received by the Group from WOMS and WOPS amounted to approximately
HKS$3.1 million, which were within the prescribed caps, as disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September 2016 and 17 July 2019,
respectively;
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On 2 September 2021, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, as supplier, and Wang On Management Limited
("WOM"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On, as purchaser,
entered into a new master sales agreement for supplying Chinese and
Western pharmaceutical products, health food and personal care products
by the Group to WOM (for itself and on behalf of other members of Wang
On excluding the Group but including the CAP Group) for the three financial
years ending 31 March 2024 at annual caps of HK$9.9 million, HK$9.9 million
and HK$9.9 million, respectively. During the year under review, total sales
proceeds received by the Group from WOM was approximately HK$4.7 million
which were within the prescribed annual cap of HK$9.9 million. Details of the
new master sales agreement were disclosed in the joint announcement of the
Company and Wang On dated 2 September 2021; and

On 1 October 2022, CAP, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Wang On entered into a master licensing agreement which sets out
the general principles and key terms governing the definitive licensing
agreements under which relevant members of Wang On may grant license of,
and the CAP Group may take up the license of the premises from 1 October
2022 to 30 September 2025 with the annual caps for the recognition of right-
of-use assets of HK$11.2 million, HK$9.7 million, HK$16.3 million and HK$4.9
million for the six months from 1 October 2022 to 31 March 2023, the year
ending 31 March 2024, the year ending 31 March 2025 and the six months
from 1 April 2025 to 30 September 2025, respectively. The recognition of right-
of-use assets amount during the six months from 1 October 2022 to 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$9.6 million which was within the prescribed
annual cap of HK$11.2 million. Details of the master licensing agreement were
disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company, CAP and Wang On
dated 1 October 2022.

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and confirmed that the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of the Group's business; (ii) in accordance with the terms
of the respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that were
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than those available to or from independent third parties; and (iv) have not
exceeded the respective caps.
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Further details of other related party transactions and/or continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of business during the
year under review, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, are set out in
note 41 to financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions

During the year under review, the following are connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@)

80

On 3 May 2022, (i) CAP and Ping An Bank Co,, Ltd. (the “Bank”) proposed to
enter into a proposed bank loan agreement, pursuant to which the Company
is required to enter into a proposed guarantee agreement and would agree
to guarantee all liabilities of CAP to be owed to the Bank under the proposed
bank loan agreement, including the principal amount of RMB300 million (in
its HKD equivalent), any interest, penalty, compound interest, damages and
other expenses of the Bank in enforcing the proposed bank loan agreement
(the “Provision of the Proposed Guarantee”); (i) CAP, Double Leads
Investments Limited (“Double Leads”, an indirect subsidiary of Wang On) and
Winning Rich Investments Limited ("Winning Rich”, an indirect subsidiary of
the Company) entered into a revolving loan facility agreement, pursuant to
which each of Double Leads and Winning Rich agreed to grant the revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$576 million to CAP for
a term of five years ending 2 May 2027 for the purpose of refinancing an
existing loan (the “Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility”). The Provision
of the Proposed Guarantee and the Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility
constituted connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules which is subject to announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The provision of the Proposed
Guarantee and the Grant of the Revolving Loan Facility were approved
by the Shareholders on 22 June 2022, details of which were set out in the
announcements published by the Company dated 3 May 2022 and 22 June
2022 and the circular of the Company dated 7 June 2022; and

On 5 October 2022, Wai Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited, an indirect subsidiary of
the Company, as tenant, entered into a tenancy agreement with Rich Idea
Limited, an indirect subsidiary of WOP, as landlord, to lease the shop 9 on
G/F of the Parkville including the signage area(s) and air-conditioning area(s),
No. 88 Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories for a term
of 31 months commencing on 3 October 2022 and expiring on 2 May 2025
(both dates inclusive) at a monthly rental of HK$100,000 per month with the
additional turnover rent (exclusive of government rates, government rent,
management charges and all other outgoings of a non-capital and recurring
nature). The tenancy agreement constituted a connected transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which is subject to
announcement requirement under the Listing Rules, details of which were set
out in the announcement published by the Company dated 5 October 2022.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by the Group in the
ordinary course of business, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, during
the year under review are set out in note 41 to financial statements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were no other
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Emolument Policy

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is in place and approved by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Remuneration Committee
and the Board, as authorised by the shareholders at the annual general meeting,
having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2013 Share Option Scheme at the annual general
meeting held on 22 August 2013, as incentives to Directors and eligible employees.
The 2013 Share Option Scheme would expire on 21 August 2023 and a new share
option scheme would be proposed for shareholders” approvals by the Company
and Wang On’s shareholders at the respective forthcoming annual general meeting.
Following the expiry of the CAP 2012 Scheme on 2 May 2022, CAP has adopted the
CAP 2022 Scheme on 26 August 2022. Details of the 2013 Scheme and the CAP 2022
Scheme are set out in note 34 to financial statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the sales to the Group’'s five largest customers
accounted for less than approximately 8.1% (2022: approximately 4.6%) of the
Group's total sales and the sales to the Group’s largest customer included therein
accounted for approximately 3.2% (2022: approximately 1.3%).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 13.2% (2022: approximately 8.8%) of the Group’s purchases and
the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 36.4% (2022:
approximately 30.1%) of the Group's purchases.

At no time during the year under review did a Director or any of their close
associates or a shareholder of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares, had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

wRgHE @

Donations

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other donations
totaling approximately HK$8.5 million (2022: approximately HK$7.8 million).

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws of
Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.

Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the transactions as disclosed in note 41 to financial statements,
no controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any contract of significance
of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year under review.

Management Contracts

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year under review.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout
the year under review, except for the deviation of the code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code as disclosed in this annual report. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 36 to 61 of this annual report.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year under review
and up to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Audit Committee

The Company has established its Audit Committee with specific written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
comprises Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, Mr. Leung Wai Ho, Mr. Siu Man Ho, Simon and Mr.
Cho Wing Mov, all of whom are the INEDs, and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David is elected as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had two regular meetings
with management and the external auditor to review and consider, among other
things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, the audit
plan, the financial reporting matters (including the review of audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the condensed interim
results for the six-month ended 30 September 2022), the statutory compliance,
internal controls and risk management, continuing connected transactions and
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their training programs
and budget. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 with the external auditor and
management of the Company.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of significant events after the reporting period of the Group are set out in
note 47 to financial statements.

Auditor
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been audited
by Ernst & Young, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman and Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
M 37 A% B e A

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 92 to 246, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for BMEBITARE [ ZBML B RE N
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including BREAENE T —SBINET - &
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance FEEELERETEHEMEAANEE - 48
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material JEHL - BB TERBNITRES
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit Sk BV AR S B TS SR 2k B K 85 R Rt 3 B
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, M ERT - BPIITE 2R
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial AR - BIEEE T BERETEEN

statements.

Key audit matter

MITHRT  REAMBRABRER
BB AEMTER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARELEE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIGE

The Group holds various investment properties in
Hong Kong and Mainland China for rental earning
purposes. Such investment properties are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period and
the aggregate carrying amount of these investment
properties was HKS$3,099,676,000 as at 31 March
2023, which represented approximately 44% of the
total assets of the Group.
ERENEBRTPEANMHEZAREMENU
EMEE - FAREMENSHMERRIRZAF
B E MZEREVENR_ZT_=F=A=
+— B 2 BREE A3,099676000487T - 15 &
SEBEEL4% °

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31
March 2023 and in the absence of current prices in
an active market for similar properties, the external
valuers considered information from a variety of
sources such as current prices of properties with
similar locations and conditions. This has been
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the fair values
of the investment properties, which reflect market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.
EEER T _=F=A=+—HZEIINBMH
EMUZEFREMFLETHE - RRZEUD
FHEERMIGT 2HRITERERT » SMNEMEE
MEZRKRBSERRZER - AR R
KRRz MERIRITER o WIARIR—IAH
REFFEDABETREME 2 A FEAED
BAME - AAIRBREREHR 2 TSR -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the valuation of investment properties are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRAREMEGLEZGABRRERBKERANGS
BA MR MiEE24 ~ 3/%15 ¢

EMNETNNEERRETSE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties
included the following:

BAFHEREMERAECRAEFERN TSR

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuers engaged by the Group;

ERKENGA EREREZINIEEMMARER 2 EERS

assessing the external valuers’ qualification, experience and expertise
and considering their competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNBIEER 2 B - KR EEEMBIZREELS - TE
MREYM R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations.
BEBRPNABEEER B HRFFEEETEB 2 EERE
ARIRAZ 328 -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RARETEE

78 o 2% 5 = JH ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN ETNMTEEFERETSR

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

RETYRRIFIELEY R BT F(E

The Group holds properties under development and
properties held for sale in Mainland China, which are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amount
of these properties was HKS$1,427,369,000, which
represented approximately 20% of the total assets of
the Group.

EXRERETEAN c BERTFMERFELHE
MERK AR F R FEMEPRIEETER -
RZZZ=F=A=+—80  hEMEHEK
E{E 414273690008 7T * 16 BEEBEBEELD
20%

During the year, write-down of HK$11,000,000 was
recognised in profit or loss against properties under
development and properties held for sale.

FA- RBERPYELFELEDEEBRRR
SRR 11,000,000/ 7T

The Group engaged an external valuer to perform
the valuations of the properties under development
and properties held for sale as at 31 March 2023.
This has been identified as a key audit matter
because significant estimation is required to
determine the net realisable value of the properties
under development and properties held for sale,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

EEER T =F=A=+—HZEIIBME
ERMHERTYERFIELHEMFEETHE -
ILIEHI R —IBAREA TR OAEEERT
MERFELEMENAERFEBELEKR
lar - Hal RSB EBRR 2 TISHRN o

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the properties under development and properties
held for sale are included in notes 2.4, 3, 19 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
BRERPYERBFELEMEZ GABER
WEBEEH NGRS A MmRMIEE24 3~ 19520 °
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale included the following:
BT EERTYERFELENEERFEZ EARFBEAUT

KIF -

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuer engaged by the Group;
ESLENS BESEERBEZINMLERMMARRZEERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and expertise
and considering its competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHEINERIEERI 2 B1E - KM LBEXMNB T EZREEEH BE
MREME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations, on a sampling basis.
BRBMANABEEERBHRABMETEEETEAZGEE
RN 2 R 28 -



Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter

RARETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AN ETNMTEEFERETSR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Y= - BB KRR RER S

As at 31 March 2023, given that there are internal
and external sources of information that indicate
impairment or reversal of impairment may exist,
management of the Company performed an
impairment assessment of the property, plant
and equipment of the Group to determine their
recoverable amounts based on either their value in
use or fair values less costs of disposal.
RZTZ=F=RA=+—H BHRBRIR
HNED & K SRR R Al B 17 72 R 1B 3R B #
B BERAGREEREYH ESENYE - BE

REEITREN L - RIBEBEESNATE
W EKAEEAKEEHE o

During the year, net impairment losses of
HK$12,941,000 was recognised against the property,
plant and equipment.
REAR - ERYE - BELIREBERREBRE
JFE12,941,00078 7T °

The impairment assessment has been identified
as a key audit matter due to the materiality of
the carrying values of the property, plant and
equipment, and the significant judgements and
estimations involved in the assessment of their
recoverable amounts.

ME - BERIXEBEREEEE MU RTHE
AT Ug B BRI 8 e BRI K (i ET - B UERE
A A IRRB RS IR o

The accounting policies and disclosures in
relation to the impairment of property, plant and
equipment are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BEME - BERRXEREZ GABERLHKE
WA s lRRMET24 - 3Kk14 -

For impairment assessments using the value in use calculations, our audit
procedures included the following:
MAGTEERBEETRENEMES @ RMNEARFEEUTE
17 :

enquiring of management in relation to the key assumptions applied in
the cash flow projections, such as the revenue growth rates and gross
profit margins, and comparing them to historical information and our
understanding of the latest market information and conditions; and
MEREERARERIDANPEAZARERR(WMBAERERE
M 2SI 5 P £ R ) R 4 1 % B R S B M B M SR iR &
FRARRE IR AR TS ¢

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us with the
assessment of the methodologies and the discount rates used to
determine the recoverable amounts on a sampling basis.

BRI ABEEER BRI TG E T 7 Y e 2 8T
RAZIERPFEE -

For impairment assessments using the fair values less costs of disposal of the
relevant property, plant and equipment, our audit procedures included the
following:

HARFEBEERBEYE - BERREBOXETRETEHE -
BB EFREATRIEA

obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports prepared by the external
valuer engaged by the Group;
BIEhERSE S£EEREZIMNIGERAGRR MERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification, experience and expertise
and considering its competence, objectivity and independence; and
FHESNBIEER 2 B - KR EEEMBIZREES - TE
MREYME R

involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us in the assessment
of the valuation methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations.
BREBANABEEERBHRMAFEEETERAZGEETE
ARERA 2 FASE28L -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
W 1 B B R )

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
sO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
W 1 B B R )

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
W S B BRb o)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the B BB A A W B Rk
consolidated financial statements (continued) AR YE AT @)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those WEFZZESBBNEEFR - BME
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial P B E KRB G R R ER
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We BRAEEZ  AMBKERETSEE K
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes PITE B SR 5 R Al S LE 2T - TR IE
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we ERIBOAT AT ARABEELEIE -

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the RERBELNBAT - MREIETEE
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the FREMHEFEREEEENNHAME
public interest benefits of such communication. REBEENARNEZE - JKFPRETE

TEMEFBERZEIE -

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report HERB I ZEMRENEFBEE S

is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling. ABEEEERR A o

Ernst & Young TKE BB
Certified Public Accountants HEDEED

27/F, One Taikoo Place BEHEE

979 King's Road 2 EI795%

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Ry —E274E

28 June 2023 —EZ=FA=1+NAR




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

o 4H £ e 3L 4 v MK AR AR

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&xT T 7T
REVENUE Wz 5 1,286,428 1391411
Cost of sales 4 R AR (674,651) (821,021)
Gross profit EH 611,777 570,390
Other income and gains, net Hap WA Rz - 558 5 83,159 144,869
Selling and distribution expenses HER DAY (270,945) (246,127)
Administrative expenses THAX (266,167) (253,068)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net CRLEEREEE - TR 7 (16,735) (12,875)
Other expenses, net B - JF5E 6 (19,283) (41 424)
Write-down of properties under development 3% & FF ) 3£ HURL 19 (4,600)
Write-down of properties held for sale FHE L E VI SEMOR, 20 (6,400)
Finance costs B 8 (106,306) (95,695)
Fair value losses on financial assets and BATELEBERARZ @R
liabilities at fair value through BEENBEZATFEES -
profit or loss, net st (5,306) (31,693)
Fair value losses on owned investment BEREMEZ N THEEBE -
properties, net pEit-E 15 (14,076) (83,253)
Share of profits and losses of associates DEH S A TN R EE 17 2,946 1,572
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRBATER 7 (11,936) (47,304)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfisE e, (FAx) 11 15,283 (40,519)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERR,(F8) 3,347 (87,823)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

A 1H AR R A 4 v W 2R 5% o)

Yearended 31 March2023 B ZE —E-_=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—g== —z—-

—=

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Ht2mUkz, (EE)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may ~— AJBEREE BRI EFT 7452
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 8752 Bt 2 EH L 75

periods: (E518) -
Debt investments at fair value through other 22 FEALH i 2 WS A
comprehensive income: R EBIRE -
Changes in fair value NEES) 936 (57,083)
Reclassification adjustments for losses/ FTABE=ZEER (W)
(gains) included in profit or loss: LB DA
- Impairment losses, net - RIEEE - FRE 7 6,860 4913
- Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption, -hE EEZEES
net Mezs) - HER 56 (784) 40,865
7,012 (11,305)
Translation reserve: b A fE
Translation of foreign operations BREGINET (243,127) 132,557
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) AlRE AR 2 B E T D 4R
that may be reclassified to profit or loss in EEm s HMEH
subsequent periods Wak/ (B518) F5 (236,115) 121,252
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BT EREERIRIET 748
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in EERZAEMEE K
subsequent periods: (Ei18) -
Equity investments at fair value through BEAFELEMEEmREA
other comprehensive income: ARz iRt A -
Changes in fair value NEEEZE (29,445) 1,322
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that T @REFRHBEFT HEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss in BRzHbrmEmkes (5
subsequent periods 8))F5 (29,445) 1322
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) A FEH {2~
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (518) - HKRH A (265,560) 122,574
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) AFE2@EWKE /(FR) 45
FOR THE YEAR (262,213) 34,751

RS BERERERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

F A 1H AR R A A i W 2R 3R o)

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THET FETT
Profit/(loss) attributable to: AT AL SR, (E518)
Owners of the parent ISYNSIETFEPN (20,515) (108,912)
Non-controlling interests ElE g 23,862 21,089
3,347 (87,823)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AT ALREZERES
attributable to: (E518) 4258 -
Owners of the parent ISYNEIEZZE PN (156,856) (34,610)
Non-controlling interests R (105,357) 69,361
(262,213) 34,751
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBERSEEAEM
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS gREE
OF THE PARENT 13
Basic and diluted BERREE HK (1.69) cents  HK (8.84) cents
7B (L
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
& o Bk O %

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

2023 2022
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E N 14 961,159 956,400
Investment properties "B 15 3,099,676 3,562,503
Net investments in subleases DK EFE 16 7,306 9,093
Investments in associates KRB AR ZRE 17 4,500 3,804
Financial assets at fair value through other RAFELEMEEEEA
comprehensive income RramEE 18 192,892 147,126
Loans and interest receivables W E F R F B 23 17,209 13,340
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEKEESZAR SR
profit or loss BE 25 = 135
Prepayments and deposits A RIE R 24 17,070 16,558
Deferred tax assets T IBEE 32 11,633 48
Total non-current assets BIERENEE 4,311,445 4,709,007
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BERERAPME 19 192,950 189,944
Properties held for sale FHELEWE 20 1,234,419 1,490,847
Inventories TE 21 209,232 188,179
Trade receivables B 5 WA 22 68,028 63,346
Loans and interest receivables FEUE T B 23 10,749 17,528
Prepayments, deposits and other TENFIAE - Be REM
receivables FEWRIE 24 259,226 244,004
Net investments in subleases DK EFEE 16 5,205 5,592
Financial assets at fair value through other ZAFELEMEEmREA
comprehensive income R emEE 18 813 19,839
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEEERAERZ
profit or loss TRIEE 25 47,449 109,605
Tax recoverable AT Ug e R I 5,790 11,115
Pledged deposits [REEwEE 26 33,496 31,250
Restricted bank balances ZRRFIRTTAE B 26 12,174 7311
Cash and cash equivalents Re R\ ERIEAE 26 525,869 510,146
2,605,400 2,888,706
Assets classified as held for sale and assets of DB AFIELEEER
a disposal company HERRICEE 27 96,970 -
Total current assets BTRENE E 2,702,370 2,388,706
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 28 79,489 86,357
Other payables and accruals Etb e Ia M ERTE R 29 690,388 769,384
Contract liabilities aHaE 29 175,870 242,967
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B RIT R HAEE 31 614,390 640,262
Tax payable FEHTR 95,848 142,344
1,655,985 1,881,314
Liabilities of a disposal company HERAECAE 27 1,203 -
Total current liabilities HEN TN =K = 1,657,188 1,881,314
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 1,045,182 1,007,392
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #BEERABERE 5,356,627 5,716,399
T EBEEERER AR
—zo—gem 93



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

BaMBIRM R E)

31 March2023 —Z2 - =9¢=H=+—H

2023 2022
HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERBABEE 5,356,627 5,716,399
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Other payables EoAth e FRIE 29 66,403 72,589
Unsecured notes EEAERE 30 125,189 219,497
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FESRITEE 31 907,272 821,403
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBAE 32 569,379 642,299
Total non-current liabilities WIETEAE 1,668,243 1,755,788
Net assets BEZE 3,688,384 3,960,611
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & 2 T H A BIERER
Issued capital BRI 33 12,046 12,316
Reserves 1B 35 2,337,145 2,503,482
2,349,191 2,515,798
Non-controlling interests eI AR AE = 1,339,193 1,444,813
Total equity B 3,688,384 3,960,611
Tang Ching Ho Tang Wai Man
iE HWEH
Director Director
E2 -
Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
W0 HE B 52 Bh

Yearended 31 March2023 B ZE —E = =A=+—HIFE

A1 Apr 2001 W-E--%MA-A 12316 210679 s 27569 56462 1191 - 2007 8749 104117 B 256535 138504 3950349
Proft/Jos) forthe ear KEERH/ (BR) - - - - - - - - - S 11 1 R 11
Other comprehensiveincomeloss) KERANAENE/

forthe year (BR):

Deb nvesiments t airvalue thiough ROTRIABZEN

othercomprehensive ncome: BABZERRE:

Changesinfarvalie ATEE - - - - - - - (8% - - S L (B3]
Reclassficaton adjustment forlosses HABEERE

incuded i pofit orloss gt

~Impaiment osse,nt -HEBE 78 - - - - - - -4 - - T4 T

~Lossondisposeedemption, net -HE/882

BR 5E - - - - - - STk - - R 7 TN ) N

Fauty invesmentst fir value BATEEAREE

throughother comprehensie JE\Ez

ncome hERd - - - - - - - SE))] - - -
Changesinfarvalue LTEES

Translaton reserve: EXEE:

Fichange diferences on tansiionof BERsRAE:

foreign operaton EREE - - - ) - - - - - SR S ) R 1]
Tota comprehensive income/oss) TER2EE/

fortheyear (BR)aE - - - Y - SN (1K RN ) SN (/O R 04
Diidend paid tonon-contolingnterests B RFEERER R IRE - - - - - - - - - - By (56N
Recassfcatonadjusment foraganon ~ HLERATREE 2
dsposd ofequiyivestmentsatforvale — EREARZBERE

through other comprehensive ncome HhaNETAERE - - - - - - - - [ - 3 - - -
Disosalofpatal merestinasubsiiay i E—EHBATHTS
’& - - - - B S 1) - - - S 71 B -
Recoqriton ofashere based pymentofa. B2 -FEIHBAANRE
subsidiary note 4 BER {3 HE0) - - - - - - - - - - - - 119 1139
Transertoresenve funds SRTRELD - - - - - 90 - - - - (o01) - - -
431 March 202 RIBZZE
Zh=1-A 10316 2006799 (QIISOF A9 1389 200 (11019# 92788 10018 10417 (B463F 2515798 1444813 3960611

7 B ANARA T
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

for O BE 25 55 W) 2 (49

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributableto owners of the parent

BOTEE AR

Fairvalue ~ Fairvalue Asset Non-

Issued Share  Special Contributed Translation ~ Reserve  Merger  Capital  reserve reserve(non- revaluation Accumulated controlling Total

capital  premium  reserve  surplus  reserve funds  reserve  reseve  (recyding) recycling)  reserve losses Total  interests equity
0PE AVE
B 1] i kE E2
B ROEE HREE REEK EREE REEE GHER E4ER  (THE (FTEE) EGEE  ZiER it BE R
HKS000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKY000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000  HKY'000  HKS'000
TEn ThEr  TEn  TEn TR TEn  TEn TR fEn TR TR TR TEn  TER TR

(note33)  (note35 i) (note 35 i) (note 35 i) (note35iv)) (note35(v)) (note35 (vi)
(E33) (ks (Roatssi)  (BtaEssii) (HfeE3sii)  (BfE3si) - (HfeE3stv)

At Aprl 2022 H-5--FRA-A 12316 2106799  (27,150) 275693 136,849 209 - (11019 (9278) 10018 104117 (84639 2515798 1444813 3960611
Profios)for theyear KERHH)/ (BE) - - - - - - - - - - - (0515 (o515 BsR 334
Othercomprehensive income/oss)forthe year: KEEEHRENE/(ER)

Debtinvestmentsat it valuethrough other RATEEER2 AN

Compiehensieincome: NELBRRE :

Changes n fairvlue 1TERS 0 = = = : = = = 936 = = = 936 = 936

Reclassfcaion adustment o ossesgaing nchdedn.~— STABRZEE/ W)z

oot orloss ENAERE

~ mpaimentlosses net -REE 5B 0 = 0 = = - - - 680 - - - 680 T 680

- Gainon disposalfedemption, et -&/5E 0

E - - - - - - - - (784 - - - (784 - (784

Fouiy investments at i valuethiough oher BATERER2ENE

comprehensive ncome NELRIERE

Changes nfaralue LTERY - - - - - - - - - (oM - - o) - (o)
Transationesene: EifE:

Bchange difrences ontranstion o oregnoperetion - BRI ERFEL L

Erzg - - - - (113,908) - - - - - - - (113908)  (129.219)  (43127)

Totlcompretesie comeflos forhe e AERRENE/ (BRI4R - - - - (g - - ST () < l0s1) (66 (105357 62213
Didend pidtonon-contoling nteests B iRER e S S S S S - - - - - - - - (530 (5301)
Buses combiatons ndercommon contel ARBHTHERAR - - - - - - 1 - - - - : P 30 o0

Redassfiction adustment foralossondisposalof ey~ SEHERATEEAMRE
vestmentsat e trowghottercomprebensie.—— REAB 2 RERENEE

income HERAREE - - - - - - - - - 5m - g o = o
Shares repurchased and cancelled fote 3) BEERHERA () 1) (9690 - - - - - - - - - - (990 < (990
Recogntionof e ased payment o asubsiday B-EHBLANRAR

note ) Etdori (iRl = = s = s = = = = = = = SR ¥ I Y]
Tendertoresene funds EAZHRES = = = = - = = = = -y = = =
431 March 203 HZFZZEZR=1-R 12,046 2097,109F (27150 275693  22,041F 4615 9% (1019 (2266) (13709 104117 (113395 2349191 1,339,193 3,688,384

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$2,337,145,000 (2022: * ZEREREBRERAMBRAEKF
HK$2,503,482,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 4R A FE#52,337,1450008 L (T2 - =
4 1 2,503,482,00078 7T)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Yearended 31 March 2023 82 —Z - =4 =7

2023
—E-=

HK$'000
TERT

GaBEeRaER

=t+—BIFE

2022
—E--

HK$/000
FHET

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBCHRERE
Loss before tax BELATEE (11,936) (47,304)
Adjustments for: EABNTEIE
Finance costs MEKRAR 8 106,306 95,695
Interest income on loans receivables EREZ 2 FIBIA 5 (2,911) (4,486)
Interest income on financial assets at fair value BATEEER AR SRIEE
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair RN FELEMEEIEA
value through other comprehensive income R emEE 2 EIA 5 (2,153) (6,842)
Interest income on bank deposits RITFERZFEHA 5 (6,064) (4,048)
Finance income on net investments in subleases DIIE FRE 2 B BIA 5, 16(ii) (368) (555)
Dividends from financial assets at fair value RERATERERAR 2/
through profit or loss and financial assets at fair BEREATECHMZER
value through other comprehensive income BARZEREE RS 5 (2,120) (9,414)
Gain on modification/termination of lease B/ BRI ES Nz I
contracts 5 (627) (491)
Gain on disposal of investment properties, net HEREWE 2 Wi o T8 5 (357) (8,169)
Gain on early redemption of unsecured notes REBELIEREMZE 20 5 (11,544) -
Fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities at ~ #AFEALHaE \ix 2 S REE
fair value through profit or loss, net EREBEIATERBE  FH 5,306 31,693
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant ~ HE®E - MEKLZEER 2
and equipment Eie /() 56 (317) 6,355
Loss/(gain) on disposal/redemption of HE ERIEAFELEMS
debt investments at fair value through other Al E AR EBIREZE
comprehensive income, net 18,/ (Ukes) - 38 56 (784) 40,865
Loss on modification of debt investments at fair ERIR A FELEMEEN SR
value through other comprehensive income AR BHEE 2 BB 6 867 -
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair value HERRFELBRARZE
through profit or loss MEE R 6 = 599
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FWEAREE 6 1,769 -
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) W B R ES RE JEE
on property, plant and equipment, net B/ (REEERR)  F58 6,14 12,941 (6,395)
Equity-settled share option expense Dt 8 v BRER 7 4,646 1,139
Impairment losses on financial assets, net CREENEEE  F8 7 16,735 12,875
Depreciation of owned assets FEREENE 14 54,609 61,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁﬁﬁ REERE 14 58,440 46,797
Accrued rent-free rental income EEre MBS A 15 262 147
Fair value losses on owned investment properties, P)ﬂ?ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁz N THEE
net 18R 15 14,076 83,253
Fair value losses/(gains) on sub-leased investment R &Y% 2 A FEEE,
properties, net (W) - % 15 (2,237) 3,764
Allowance for obsolete inventories REFERE 2,965 4,970
Write-down of properties under development R AR MUR 19 4,600 -
Write-down of properties held for sale BEH EMERR, 20 6,400 -
Share of profits and losses of associates DIEEE R T/ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁ@ (2,946) (1572)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors HBAFREENETRRS
A ARENEEER 16 (774) (3,860)
244,784 296,016
Increase in inventories FE®m (24,957) (30,208)
Increase in properties under development BRAYIEIE N (13,712) (17,596)
Decrease in properties held for sale RIELEMERD 133,576 350,828
Increase in trade receivables g %JT'EW%\IEP 7]1] (14,004) (14,426)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances SR EISRITH AR D (R 0) (5,403) 15,696
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, depositsand ~ TBAS FRIE Eﬁ&ﬁ‘rﬂl [
other receivables FIER D/ (42 0) (29,444) 77423
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables B S EMTEEm (Rd) (3,143) 12,209
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEERD (49,003) (372,943)
Decrease in other payables and accruals Hi R FIB R EFTERR D (32,185) (80,667)
Cash generated from operations %&%Fﬁ EERS 206,509 236,332
Proceeds from subleases DTS HIE 16(ii) 6,297 10,599
Interest received on bank deposits ﬁEﬁﬁ%ﬁ(Z REEESS 6,064 4,048
Tax paid BEAHIE (53,055) (81,873)
Net cash flows from operating activities RERBMGZRERE TR 165,815 169,106
L= %%?zhﬁ\ﬁ//\\ A
ZE=FFRH 929



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

OB emER @)

Yearended 31 March2023 B E —E-_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E== —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBRGZREREFHE 165,815 169,106
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHZRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BB ¥1% « iR KR ETEE (31,826) (26,036)
Deposits paid for acquisition of items of property, ~ WEHE - BEKRREBEBE ZE
plant and equipment Fizs (1,620) -
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEHTB A B A3 IR 37 46,647 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant ~ HE¥E « BiE KR EEE 5
and equipment IR 2,603 883
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMERIA 21,210 43971
Additions to investment properties NEREME 15 (20,387) (51,558)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERATELEZAREZER
profit or loss BE (15,000) (58357)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value HER A FELBEARZ 25
through profit or loss BEMBRA 67,621 18081
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through BERATELEM2EREA
other comprehensive income RromEE (80,075) (39,252)
Proceeds from disposal/redemption of debt HE BEEAFELCEMEE
investments at fair value through other W \BR 2 BRI A PTG 3R
comprehensive income 24,073 99,757
Decrease/(increase) in loans and interest receivables  JEUX & 3% & JEULFI 208/
(&) 1,819 (3,398)
Dividends received from associates [BEEHVNET N 2,250 600
Interest received from loans receivables and REEKEFRREBKIRE 2B W
debt investments FME 2,335 12,360
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value R B IR A FELEMEE KA
through other comprehensive income and FremBERERTELE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss m AR eREEZEWRE 2,120 9414
Net cash flows from investing activities REFZHMERENRETFE 21,770 6,465
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEZHHERE
New bank and other borrowings IS RIT REMEE 952,195 589,868
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEBITRAMER (850,153) (480,364)
Shares repurchase B B (9,960) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AR R S ARE (5,301) (25,628)
Redemption of unsecured notes BEEEERRE (95,937) -
Redemption of convertible notes e EIRlEali e e - (134,800)
Principal portion of lease payments HENR AT (58,094) (64,342)
Interest paid [EANELES) (86,345) (58,464)
Increase in pledged deposits BHEAFZIE (5,315) (30,683)
Net cash flows used in financing activities RERSIARSRNEFE (158,910) (204,413)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReRBEEFEREM
CASH EQUIVALENTS (R4 #8 28,675 (28,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FOzBEeReERIEER 510,146 507,234
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEH s T8 FHE (12,118) 31,754
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZRERALEFEE
END OF YEAR 526,703 510,146
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND RERRELEEERZEBRIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be RRITHEH 419,564 474,889
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity ~ REEFRRIIEE DR =187
of less than three months when acquired ok Siiw bl iVEE 106,305 35,257
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the AeRAeEREE (HnGzs
consolidated statement of financial position BRSHR R R P ) 525,869 510,146
Add: Cash and bank balances of a disposal company 1 : —EHERFZRE M
RITHER 27 834 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the Ao RASZREE (HMmiRs
consolidated statement of cash flows RenERmid) 526,703 510,146

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements

Corporate and Group Information

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its head office
and principal place of business are both located at Suite 3101, 31/F,, Skyline
Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products

production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health food
products

property investment

management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands, and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Wang On Group Limited ("Wang On"), which is incorporated in
Bermuda and is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”).

B4 5 e 3 BT wk

31March2023 — 2 - =F=A=+—H

oy ) e 4 W R

MUTEHEEERBRAF(ERA
ADA—HREREFMR L E
REeBRAR  HAREEREER
EEMBHMNRN AT B NENLEE
R BRI REIZINEI0E o

RER > RNRFREWEQF (%
S-S5 DES I ENIE S

EERHEPERRERM®
7

EENRHERERRER®
7

MERE

EENHERERR TS
ZME

KRREERR  ARAZE
BE¥ERR A Rl BRich Time Strategy
Limited » ELPA 50 88 BE 2 ¥ & 21T A
oo ARRZBBEIERRBPRER
SEBERAB(ER] ERAR
FEAMAKL - WHREBBAER S
BRAR([BERFT]) EHR T e

T E BRI AR AR

T ZFFER 101



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. 2w 5 HE B @
Information about subsidiaries M@ AR ZER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: RABEEWBARZFFBOT ¢

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company

ARAEERER DL
Direct Indirect
Place of incorporation  Issued ordinary/ E# L
and business registered share capital 2023 ) 2023 22 Principal activities
AMKUREREY EROLE/HERRE =8-S =8== IEEH
Asia Brighter Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HERABRAA B LERET Ve
Billion Good Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 99.79% 9979%  Property investment
(‘Billion Good')
BERARRAA B kAT NRRE
(&)
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited” Bermuda Ordinary HK899,530678 - - 53.37% 5337%  Investment holding
(AP
PERERRABRLT" ARE ERR99S0678ET REAR
(HERER)
Cloud Hero Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Provision of financial service
B LaRET RS RRE
Full Gainer Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
SRRERRAR B LERET Ve
Grand Quality Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
ENERARAR B LaRET Ve
Good Excellent Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property holding
BEEARAT B LERET Ve
Info World Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100% 100%  Property investment
HARERRAR B LERET MRRE
Jet Success Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS10 - - 32.02% = Management of Chinese wet
('Jet Success’) (note (b)) markets
RRERARLT B LaR0ET (H3E(b) hafmER
(E-1:4)
Kingtex Investment Limited ('Kingtex’) HongKong Ordinary HK$10 - - 32.02% = Management of Chinese wet
(note (b)) markets
BEREARAR(EE] B LiaR0ET (B3E(b) hafmER

102 Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023



1.

Luxembourg Medicine Company Limited

—

EREAEHARLT

Qriental Sino Investments Limited

RERARRLA

Sino Fame Investments Limited
('Sino Fame’)

EHREERAR
i5:4)

Star Sense Limited
FRERAA

Sunbo Investment Limited

REREARLE

Sunny Victor Limited
REERAT

Topmate Investment Limited

EXRARRAA

Total Smart Investments Limited

Wai Yuen Tong Company Limited
frr2ARAA

Castle Park (Regional) Limited (formerly
known as Wai Yuen Tong (Regional)
Limited)

FE(E)ARLT
(M TE () BRAR)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation
and business

ALk E R

Hong Kong
3
Hong Kong
30
Hong Kong
30
Hong Kong
30

Hong Kong
30

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Bitish Virgin Islands
ZERUES

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

Bk

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

BREE/ MR

Ordinary HK$933313
ERRon33ET
Ordinary HKS2
LamET
Ordinary HKS1
LERET
Ordinary HKS1
TERET

Ordinary HKS1
TRRET

Ordinary HKS2
TERET

Ordinary HKS1
LakET

Ordinary USS1
LERET

Ordinary HKS1
LERIET

Ordinary HKS1

LRRET

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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1. AW REMER @
B 2 0 2 (A

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERER DL
Direct Indirect
B L
2023 ) 2023 022 Principal activities

“E-=E -—F--fF CEC-S TEER

- - 99.79% 9979%  Production and sale of Westem
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FERHERERFRRAM
Em

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
nERE

- - - 100%  Property investment
V¢

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
nERE

- - 100% 100%  Property investment
VESE

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
YES]

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
Ve

100% 100% - = Investment holding
REHR

- - 100% 100%  Property holding
VESiL]

- - 100% 100%  Property holding

ESE

7 B ANARA T
—zo—sem 103



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1. 2w 5 HE B @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) M A a2 ER (&)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERREIL
Direct Indirect
Issued ordinary/ E# L

Place of incorporation

104

Wai Yuen Tong (Macao) Limited

g (AF)ERAR

pesll]

Wai Yuen Tong (Retail Limited

g (FE)ERAR

pesll]

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company Limited
('WYT Medicine Company’)

TEERARAA
(i %R

MIEREREARLT

R

REKERERARAA

R EERRAR AT

RERYHRIERADZARLD

and business

ALk E R

Macau

57

Hong Kong

3

Hong Kong

3

People's Republic of China
(the "PRC’)/ Mainland
China

hE\REAE
(IE)) /4B

The PRC/ Mainland China

RE/ SRR

The PRC/ Mainland China

/SRR

The PRC/ Mainland China

/SRR

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

registered share capital 2023
BEAEE/MRRE  -%-2

==

Ordinary Macau -
Pataca 25,000

AR5 00087

Ordlinary HK$300,000 =

ERR300000%TT

Ordinary HKS 13417374 -
Non-voting deferred
shares™ HKS17,373 750
LER3 47345 T
ERZEER
Blp=17373 75087

Registered capital Renminbi -
('RMB") 102,000,000

HMERARE
(T AR%])1020000007C

Registered capital -
HK$100,000,000

AR
1000000007

Registered capital -
RIMB61,220000

AMERARY
612200007

Registered capital -

RMBI80610000
HER
ARH1806100007C

2023

—g—=

==

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

99.79%

100%

21.22%"

53.37%

99.7%%

99.7%%

99.7%%

99.7%%

100%

2.20%"

5337%

Principal activities

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FEERRERRER

Retail sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FEVERRERRER

Production and sale of Chinese
pharmaceutical and health food
products

FERHEPERRR

AO o
RnEm

Retail sale and wholesale of
Chinese pharmaceutical and
health food products

TERBETERRE

AnEm
Property holding

kS

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation

BERERRANE

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation

BERERRANE



1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation
and business
AMRAIRE £ S
INREZEERHETEERAR  ThePRC/Mainland China
('Yulin Hongjin')*
INTEEEERNENSERA  wE/REARY
(EMEE)"
INEENTERERAR The PRC/ Mainland China
RE/RER
YMTEBSERNETSARDA  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/RER
RHTEZEERUETAERLE  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/RER
RHERESEERHBETEERAR  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/RER
ERTESEERMBETEERAR"  ThePRC/Mainland China
RE/FER

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

BREE/ MR

Registered capital
RIMB34,285,700

AR
ARH34285 700

Registered capital
RIMB320,000000

AR
AR 3200000007

Registered capital
RIMB450,000,000

AR
AR 84500000007

Registered capital
US$23230000

AR
BI0000ET

Registered capital
RIMB443,000,000

AR
AR 4430000007

Registered capital
RIMB140,000000

AR
AR 1400000007

St B ¥ R W BE ()
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1. AW REMER @
P 2 0 2 B (A

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ADAEEREE AL
Direct Indirect
E# ;3
2023 2023
-§-= -§-=

- ==

Principal activities
IEER

21.22%" 2720%*
(note (a))

Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
e

GED)

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE
37% 37%  Agricultural produce exchange

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural prod h
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

53.37% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

40,03%° 4003%*  Agricultural produce exchange
market operation and property
sales

BERERRATAR
MEHE

T EBEIER AR AR

—zo—gsem 103



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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1. Corporate and Group Information (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ARAEERREIL

Direct

Place of incorporation
and business

ALk E R ~§-=

==

BREE/ MR

Issued ordinary/ E#
registered share capital 2023

Indirect

2023

—g—=

==

G
2022 Principal activities

“ECCF FERR

BRTEEEERNEMEERAT  ThePRUMainland China  Registered capital = 53.37% 5337%  Agricutural produce exchange
RMB200,000,000 market operation and property
sales
8 /R E R iheEx BERERRATAER
ARE2000000007T NEHE
ERTERRERMRARAR The PRC/ Mainland China ~ Registered capital = 5337% 5337%  Agricultural produce exchange
15435000000 market operation and property
sales
8/ RE R iheEx BERERRATAER
3500000070 NEHE
ERLERIERMETAERAT  ThePRU/Mainland China  Registered capita = 070% 470%  Agicutural produce exchange
RMB2,000,000 market operation
8 /R E R HheEx RERERRAME
ARB20000007

*¥

##

106

CAP is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. It is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are the management and sale of properties
in agricultural produce exchange markets.

The non-voting deferred shares carry no voting rights nor rights to dividends. On
the winding up of WYT Medicine Company, holders of the non-voting deferred
shares have a right to repayment in proportion to the amounts paid up on all
ordinary and deferred shares after the first HK$1,000,000,000,000 thereof has
been distributed among the holders of the ordinary shares.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law.

Listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

A subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s control over it.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Corporate and Group Information (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

(a) On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP, and a substantial shareholder of Yulin
Hongjin (the “PRC Shareholder’) entered into an agreement in relation to the
reduction of registered capital contribution of Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin.
Pursuant to the agreement, Century Choice also transferred 14% equity interest
in Yulin Hongjin to the PRC Shareholder in the course of the transaction at a
consideration of RMB40,950,000 (equivalent to HK$49,214,000). The registered
capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin was reduced by an
amount of RMB41,944,000 (equivalent to HK$42,328,000) after the transaction.
As a result, Century Choice's equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from
65% to 51%. Accordingly, the Group's effective equity interest in Yulin Hongjin
was decreased from 34.69% to 27.22%.

(b)  On 1 October 2022, the Group entered into shares transfer agreements with
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wang On, which are fellow subsidiaries of the
Group, to acquire 60% equity interests in each of Kingtex and Jet Success,
together with the shareholder loans owed by Kingtex and Jet Success to the
fellow subsidiaries of the Group at an aggregate consideration of HK$997,000,
which was settled through current account with the wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Wang On (the “Acquisition”). Given that Kingtex and Jet Success are
ultimately controlled by Wang On before and after the business combination,
the Acquisition is accounted for as a business combination under common
control, and the Group has elected to account for all the common control
transactions using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The net
assets of Kingtex and Jet Success have been consolidated using the existing
book values from the perspective of Wang On in these financial statements.
All differences between the consideration paid and the amounts at which the
assets and liabilities are recorded (net of any reserves of the acquired entities)
have been recognised directly in equity as part of merger reserve. The financial
statements and results of Kingtex and Jet Success are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.1

108

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
which have been measured at fair value. Assets and a disposal company
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2023. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in
control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount
of any non-controlling interest and (jii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
lllustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

2.1

2.2
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

110

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the
Group are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer
to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset
or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRICO)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or
HK(FRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to business combinations that occurred
on or after 1 April 2022. As the business combinations occurred during
the year were outside the scope of HKFRS 3, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items as determined
by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has applied the
amendments retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale
of items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being
available for use, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

(continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling
the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract
management and supervision costs). General and administrative costs
do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 April 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41. Details of the amendment that is applicable to the Group are
as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes
when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability. These fees include only those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied
the amendment prospectively from 1 April 2022. As there was no
modification or exchange of the Group's financial liabilities during the
year, the amendment did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have

been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

112

Annual Report 2023

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Insurance Contracts'
Insurance Contracts'>

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current (the 2020 Amendments’)**

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
‘2022 Amendments’)?
Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited

2.3 CAEMHMNRERZE

S % e v

AEBETERZS

AAST 7

V15 M

OB MRME im R AR Fr ] S AR
ERTRBMBRELER -

BEUBREEAZI0RR
BRGENENR(-T
——E) 2Bk

BRGS0,
L

ERUBREENZ S

ERUBRERAZ
L

ERUBRERAZ
L

BRGHERZE I ZBA

BREHERZ I ZBIA

BAGENSIRRERY
BREENERERE
b HE

BAGTENZR 2B

BRSHENZE S
PHE

REFEEBZ1A94
EPFZENAENE
g8

EROEZHERR

Rpab
K

BABAE A FHLE
FIZ IS REEES
LEAEG - HEE
e

BETEERYE
FE-E-FF
BiTx )

WEZEz#RERE
(=E=Z#iT1)

S HERE

Eittit 2EE
EERFEHEERR
EHBELHE



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020

Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
= Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change
in conclusion

s As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1
January 2023

° An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the classification
overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to
the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

114

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses
in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to
ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e,, 1 April 2019). Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
in particular the determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the
HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities
to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is
permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures
to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are
defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

24

116

Issued But Not Yet Effective HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise
a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions.
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to
leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other component
of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be
applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which itisin a
position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the Group's share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates is included in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the Group, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

118

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted
for using the principle of the pooling-of-interests method. The assets and
liabilities of the acquiree are stated at their historical book values carried
in the consolidated accounts of the controlling shareholder at the date
of acquisition. The difference between the consideration transferred for
a business combination under common control and the total of (i) the
acquisition date historical net asset values of the acquiree attributable to
the Group; and (ii) the pre-acquisition reserves of the acquiree combined
by the Group is accounted for as a contribution from or a distributed to, as
appropriate, holding companies in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Accordingly, there is no goodwill or a gain on bargain purchase
as a result of a business combination under common control. The results
of the acquiree under a business combination under common control are
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control
ceases.

Other business combinations

Business combinations other than those under common control are
accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance
with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions
as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an
asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit
or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (“CGU(s)"), or groups of CGUs, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of
whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Other business combinations (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU
(group of CGUs) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the CGU (group of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU (or group of CGUs) and part of
the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the CGU retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 = based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.
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(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required (other than inventories, financial assets, properties
under development, properties held for sale, investment properties, deferred
tax assets and non-current assets/disposal groups classified as held for sale),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or CGU's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the CGU to which the asset belongs. In testing a CGU for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to an
individual CGU if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of CGUs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2.4 FEEFBORME @)
(continued)
Related parties BRERS
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETIERT BEATKHERER
B E A E
(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s family and that @ BEATRA—BALTHZA
person T RERLS  MAT
() has control or joint control over the Group; () TRl EREESARE
;
(i) hassignificant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEAEFEATE
7753
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or (il ABAEEFIAEESGTA
of a parent of the Group; AMEZEEREABK
8
or B4
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: b) BEATR/EREMENATE
HHEeE
() the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZEEAAEEBER-—
SEKERA

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of (ih ZEBEBAZ —HBE(XK

a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); S—EBNEAT - M
BRralkBARME A
AW E R Al E &
=k

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third (iif) EZEE%E@Z]K%Z% a—
party; =FREERE

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity vy —EBR—FE=-SE®
is an associate of the third entity; WEErE ME—&

B Aty = B
SN

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of v) E@%ﬁ%ﬁ 7 5 8] of B 7K

employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group; SEEHENERNE
SREBENEE

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified Vi) FREBZ@EFHERIA
in (a); Ty il sk L RIEH]

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the (i) FA(@)( |)I Frasal A £ ¥
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the ZEBEERTEYL
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and BZER(NZERE

RANEEZERBABK
8 K&

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, vil) ZEEBXEMBEEN
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to (G5 E=ENE PN
the parent of the Group. AR B A RRMH
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including owned assets and right-of-use
assets classified as property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an item of
property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal group held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of owned property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. Right-of-use assets (ownership of which will not be
transferred to the Group) are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
principal annual rates used for depreciation are as follows:

Owned assets

Buildings 2-3'5% or over the terms of the relevant
leases, whichever is shorter

20-33'4% or over the terms of the relevant

leases, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 10-20%
Furniture and equipment 20-33'4%
Motor vehicles 10-20%
Computer system 20-33'4%

Right-of-use assets

Leasehold land 2% or over the terms of the relevant leases
ranging from 27 to 68 years, whichever is
shorter

Buildings Over the lease terms of 2 to 6 years
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful
lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
(that is the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
(other than those meet the definition of an investment property, properties
under development or properties held for sale) are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.

If ownership of the leased assets is transferred to the Group by the end of the
lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including the
leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties
are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property
are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or
inventories, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its
fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group
as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation. Changes
in the values are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation
reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such
assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held
for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in
its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties
and financial assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated
or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these
criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and
are amortised using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of the
underlying products not exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the
date when the products are put into commercial production.
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(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. When the right-
of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as properties under
development and properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policies for “properties under development” and “properties held for sale”.
The right-of-use assets which meet the definition of investment property
are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair value in
accordance with the Group’s policy for “Investment properties”. Other right-
of-use assets are included in property, plant and equipment, the accounting
policy of which are included in the policy for “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above.

(@) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)
(a) Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date because
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other payables and accruals.

(b) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of buildings and equipment (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to

capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
that are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a straight-line

basis over the lease term.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there
is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.
When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in profit or loss. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the lease payments and related payments (including
the initial direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to
the net investment in the lease. The finance income on the net investment
in the lease is recognised in profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic
rate of return over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a finance
lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the
sublease as an operating lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees, payments for land use rights and other costs directly
attributable to such properties incurred during the development period. Net
realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction of the relevant property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties
are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from purchasers in respect
of the pre-sale of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties under development, they are subsequently measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the Group'’s policy for
properties under development.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total land and building costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is estimated by the
directors based on the prevailing market prices on an individual property
basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in leasehold land held as
properties held for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy for properties
held for sale.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in
progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's business
model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
(debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed in the same manner
as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition,
the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity
investments as equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.
Dividends are recognised as other income in profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and certain investments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-
financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a separate
derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract
is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through
profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset
host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of
the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based
on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When
making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At each reporting date,
the Group evaluates whether the debt investments are considered to have
low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments. In addition, the
Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments
are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general
approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -~

Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage2 -

Stage3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and net investments in sub-leases that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described
above.
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(continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, and loans and borrowings and payables at
amortised cost, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and unsecured notes.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities
held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains
or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net
fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the
criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, except for the
gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in
other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and payables)

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that
require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts
at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised.

Unsecured notes and convertible notes

If the conversion option of convertible notes and the early redemption
option of unsecured notes and convertible notes exhibit characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability component.
On initial recognition, the derivative component of the unsecured notes
and convertible notes is measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments included in financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Any excess of proceeds over the amount
initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised as the liability
component. Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components of the unsecured notes and convertible notes based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and derivative components when
the instruments are initially recognised. The portion of the transaction costs
relating to the liability component is recognised initially as a reduction of
the liability. The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in
profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Share repurchase

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive)
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially
measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i)
the amount that would be recognised in accordance with the general policy
for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the amount of income recognised in accordance with the policy
for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

2.4

St 5 ¥ A W ar)

31March2023 — 2 - =F=A=+—H

F R BORBEE @0

BiE
WEBEFEHFEEREGAERL
CEESHEEERME) - BREAIGEA
ML ERABITRME - WeEA] SEfh
AAEEZHEE  AIERRE -

TR EBEKX - SABEER
ZERDERARSBETEBEE
ERFRAXNBERRZRE -
PriRIRE & FRRE S R A M A i
- BREERARE ZBENX
ZNA

REBEFPERZNABEVS
RATERE @ BRIZUWTMER
MRS ETE  ()VRELIERZ
—RECRERN SR ¢ M) VIR TE
R R (EEA) RIBAB Y=
RECRERMWA S -

Fri8®
BT {8 B R BN E KB A IR - B24E
WD RRIER B FTERRA
HOMER - TR MR ERSKE
SRR R -

AR EERARE  REHEN
BERROSINTREERNEER
AE - NHERSHRSEMEK
BB R (R BUR) RER K&
ZRAKEZLEMEERNZER
HITER -

BELERAR A B EEHMARRE
HIRPLEE M BENHEER R
BimEmMREES RN E R ERE
R -

141



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

S B ¥ R W s )

31March2023 —E-=F=A=+—H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

142

(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods
or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the
Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains
a financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(@) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of goods.

Some contracts for the sale of Chinese and Western pharmaceutical
and health food products provide customers with rights of return. The
rights of return gives rise to variable consideration:

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the
goods within a specified period, the expected value method is used to
estimate the goods that will not be returned because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine the amount of
variable consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)  Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point in time
when the purchasers obtain the physical possession and/or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group has the present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

(c)  Provision of management, promotion and property ancillary
services
Revenue from the provision of management, promotion and property
ancillary services is recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group.

(d) Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets
Commission income from the agricultural exchange markets is
recognised at the point in time when the services are rendered in
accordance with the terms of the agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group performs under the contract (ie., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract were those costs that the Group
incurs to obtain a contract with a customer it would not have been incurred
if the contract had not been obtained e.g, sales commission to sales agents.
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if
the costs relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover the goods
expected to be returned by customers. The asset is measured at the former
carrying amount of the goods to be returned, less any expected costs to
recover the goods and any potential decreases in the value of the returned
goods. The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to
the expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the value of the
returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or all of the
consideration received (or receivable) from a customer and is measured at the
amount the Group ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the corresponding
change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company and CAP each operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments (‘equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a trinomial model, further details of
which are given in note 34 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at
the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions
attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected
in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/
or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated
as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.
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(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an
expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings/loss per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
to a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e, assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company's memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e, translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).
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(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Estimates

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties including commercial and industrial properties in
Hong Kong and agricultural produce exchange markets in Mainland China
are revalued at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use
basis by independent professionally qualified valuers. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered and
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used. Further details of the valuation are included
in note 15 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties
held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of each unit is determined
using the weighted average method. The estimated net realisable value is
assessed at the end of the reporting period on a market value, existing use
basis by an independent professionally qualified valuer. Such valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation, information
from current prices in an active market for similar properties is considered and
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end
of the reporting period are used.

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial non-current
assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment or reversal
of impairment of all non-financial non-current assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment and reversal of impairment of non-financial non-current
assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Where an indication of impairment or reversal of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, properties under development, properties held for sale,
investment properties and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
CGU's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset
belongs. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use is calculated to assess for impairment, management
applies assumptions to prepare cash flow forecast, i.e., discount rate, growth
rate for the asset or CGU to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Given that external sources of information and evidence from internal
reporting indicates that the economic performance of some assets or CGUs
are better than expected while some CGUs continue to underperform, the
directors of the Company performed impairment tests of the property, plant
and equipment or related CGUs to determine their recoverable amounts. The
recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and equipment or a CGU is
calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use,
the calculations of which involve the use of estimates.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based
on their products and services and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) production and sale of Chinese pharmaceutical and health food
products — manufacture, processing and sale of traditional Chinese
medicine which includes Chinese medicinal products sold under the
brand name of “Wai Yuen Tong” and a range of products manufactured
using selected medicinal materials with traditional prescriptions,
mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong (“Chinese Pharmaceutical
Segment”);

(b)  production and sale of Western pharmaceutical and health
food products — manufacture, processing and sale of Western
pharmaceutical products and personal care products under the brand
names of "Madame Pearl's” and “Pearl’s”, respectively ("Western
Pharmaceutical Segment’);

ron

(c)  property investment — investment in commercial and industrial
premises for rental income; and

(d)  management and sale of properties in agricultural produce exchange
markets.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's loss before tax except that other income and gains, net,
finance costs, fair value losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, net, head office and corporate income and expenses,
loss on disposal/redemption of debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net, loss on modification of debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income and loss on disposal of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling
prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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4. Operating Segment Information (continued) 4. By ERE B
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Lossonmodficaton of debtimestmentsatfarvaee B3 TRATESEH2ENE

through oher comprehensieincome NG BHREEE (867)
Losson diposalof fnancilassesatfirvaluethrough - HERATEREXAE

poftorloss SREE/BR - (5%9)
Loss before tax WRIER (119%6) @734
Income tax et expense) HEREL/ (7R 15283 ({0519
Profioss) forthe year EFET /(5B) P B8
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Operating Segment Information (continued)

Other segment information
Year ended 31 March

Chingse Pharmaceutical ~ Western Pharmaceutical

St B ¥ R W BE ()

31 March2023 —Z - =%=H=+—H

4. BHEE R @

H it EBE R
BEZ=BA=1+—HLEE

Management and sale of
propertiesin agricultural

Segment Segment Propertyinvestment  produce exchange markets Unallocated
EEREERER
SGLEPLIE i

023
ECcE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#L Tan Tn
Other segment nformation: EhAdE:
Iterestncome HERA o - - - -
Captl expenditure nte) ErER () 1850 630 850 E0)] -
Depreciton g 65700 65265 1436 1S 14006
Fairvlueloses/gan